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Strategic Report
Strategic Review
History and constitution

The University is a company limited by guarantee. Under the terms of the Memorandum and Articles of Association, 
the members of the University Governing Council have each undertaken to contribute a maximum of £1 in the event 
of the winding up of the company. The University traces its history back to the establishment of the Derby Diocesan 
Institution for the Training of Schoolmistresses in 1851 and gained University status in 1992. Our registered address, 
and that of our subsidiary companies, is Kedleston Road, Derby, DE22 1GB.  Our main campus is at Kedleston Road. 

Exempt charity

The University is an exempt charity, regulated by the Office for Students.

Mission
An applied University of today and for tomorrow, everything we do is driven by delivering excellence and opportunities 
for our students, our staff and our region. From the heart of England, we empower people across the globe to achieve 
their potential and make a positive contribution to society. 

Strategic framework  

The medium to long term planning horizon is covered by the Strategic Framework 2018-30. The Strategic Framework 
2018-30 was launched in June 2018, following an extensive consultation exercise with staff, students and 
stakeholders. Our view is that it would be unrealistic to set out a definitive vision and detailed blueprint for those 12 
years. Instead, we have defined our Strategic Framework which provides us with the foundations and direction on 
which to annually plan, perform and succeed in a changing and globally dynamic environment. 
 
The Framework sets out the University’s direction of travel and ambition through to 2030. Within this period we will 
review our strategic direction every four years. In the current year, the University began to embed its new Performance 
Framework which supports delivery of the Strategic Framework. This will be monitored via Institutional Success Measures 
(ISMs) which are described on page 5-6.

Our principles: creating the right experience; working effectively; and broadening impact and profile; shape what 
we do and how we do it. It is against these that all strategic decisions are made. Further supporting our success are 
our three core Pillars of focus:   
 
• Moulding the Next Generation of Game Changers - Our students benefit from a high quality learning 

environment, pioneering use of modern learning methods, access to diverse and exciting opportunities, and a 
continually evolving suite of services and support covering all aspects of their lives. They will study an industry-
relevant and research-informed curriculum shaped in collaboration with partners across business and professions, 
and in line with global issues and government agendas. This is delivered through industry-connected and 
research-active academics able to share their experiences and build connections. Our students will therefore 
graduate with the skills, knowledge, experience and attributes which enable them to fulfil their ambitions and 
make a positive contribution to the world. 

 They will set their aspirations high, think beyond the obvious, and have the ingenuity, curiosity and enterprise to 
succeed in their chosen career path. 

• Being a Force for Positive Impact – Working with others, and with the full commitment of our staff and students, 
we will raise aspirations and improve the education, skills, health and wellbeing of current and future generations 
across our region. We will play our part in positioning Derby as a key city on the national and international stage, 
with our academic reputation established as a core element of the ‘Derby story’. Our research, knowledge creation 
and innovation is focused on making a practical, positive difference to people’s lives – regionally, nationally and 
globally. We will further establish ourselves as the preferred partner of choice to provide solutions to social  
and industrial challenges by delivering academic expertise, knowledge and innovation, alongside students and 
graduates with the right “I can, and I will” attitude. 
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• Opening Doors for Everyone – Our ability to offer the broadest range of options from Apprenticeships to 
Foundation Years, and Short Courses to Postgraduate, means that at every stage of someone’s life or career, 
there are the tools, resources and opportunities on offer at the University of Derby from which they can benefit. 
Our renowned knowledge and innovation in online learning acts as the perfect platform for us to be a pioneer 
for education in the increasingly technologically driven world in which we live. Be it through online, face-to-face 
or blended teaching, Derby will be at the forefront of the flexible, integrated learning revolution aligned to the 
needs of learners now and in the future. Our global outlook will see more international students coming to our 
University and more opportunities for home students to travel overseas as part of their studies, further enriching 
their experience. 

 
Our values 

To ensure we meet our objectives and the goals set out by the strategic plan we have a robust set of values which 
are at the forefront of our daily activities. We believe the way we approach our work and how we approach each 
other is as important as what we do to continue building on our success. The key values impacting our day-to-day 
activities are: 
• Value people – We aim to be true ambassadors of our purpose and promises. We share a collective endeavour 

to open thinking, encouraging and inspiring others. We build trust and support each other, whilst ensuring we listen 
and act with integrity to build positive long-lasting partnerships. 

• Bold – We think big and make an impact. We work with ambition and passion, seeking opportunities to 
grow. New learning and experiences help us evolve. We create a reputation of providing innovation, skills and 
knowledge to industry to fulfil student potential. 

• Future focused – We employ innovative practices, seeking out and embracing current thinking. We are able to 
adapt to change and have the confidence to take the lead. We have determination, knowledge and a positive 
attitude to stay ahead of the game. 

• Brilliance – We are curious and strive for excellence. We create an environment that enables those around us 
to share views and celebrate success, taking pride in our achievements. We create stimulating environments, 
transforming the prospects of all who engage with us.

Public benefit statement

As an exempt charity, the University has due regard to the Charities Commission’s public benefit guidance when 
exercising any powers or duties to which the guidance is relevant. The University’s objectives are, for the public 
benefit, to promote and advance education and training and promote, undertake and advance research.

The governing body of the University is the Governing Council, the members of which are also charitable trustees 
of the University. Our charitable status benefits all our students and the Derbyshire region. We have a long-standing 
reputation for teaching excellence of which we are extremely proud. We are proud to be the only university in our 
city and county as this enriches our connectivity within the region but as importantly we relish the civic responsibilities 
this brings.

Access and participation

The University’s geographical location is characterised by social immobility. Half of local authorities in the East 
Midlands are identified as social mobility ‘cold spots,’ including Derby city, ranked 316th out of 324 local authorities 
for social mobility. As a leading institution for social mobility, winner of the UK Social Mobility Awards University 
of the Year 2020 and the National Education Opportunity Network (NEON) Higher Education Institution of the Year 
2020, we believe that higher education should be equitable, inclusive and open to all who have the ambition and 
desire to learn and progress. In 2019/20, 23.9% of our young undergraduate first degree entrants (9th in UK) and 
27.7% of our mature undergraduate entrants with no previous higher education experience (5th in UK) were from low 
participation neighbourhoods (POLAR 4 quintile 1). For the latter, we have increased our student headcount by 51% 
since 2015/16, providing vital opportunities for adults learners to retrain and succeed.
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Outreach work with adults and the community 
Our Access to Higher Education programme provides a vital, local, route into higher education for those who 
have been away from education for some time or younger learners who did not achieve their desired college 
qualifications. The programme, delivered by Buxton and Leek College (BLC), gives learners the confidence and skills 
to take that next step to start a degree or equivalent university level course. 

Outreach work with schools and young people 
Our Widening Access team lead a number of significant outreach programmes for learners from OfS access and 
participation target groups. For example, ‘Progress to Success’ is an evidence-based framework of progressive 
and sustained activity for Year 7 through to Year 11 pupils from specific areas of Derby and Derbyshire. This multi-
intervention approach includes experience days, summer schools and mindfulness workshops. 

Additional activity strands ensure the focus is concentrated on acutely under-represented groups including 
looked-after children and white working-class boys. For example, ‘University Explorers’ is specifically designed 
for disadvantaged/under-represented pupils in Years 5 and 6 to introduce them to the concept and language of 
University and how it fits into their learning journey through a number of ‘drip-feed’ touchpoints. In 2020/21 the team 
delivered 277 activities and engaged with 9,500 learners using a blended learning approach of virtual and face-to-
face delivery. We continue to track previous participants of our widening access programmes into higher education 
and there is a clear pattern of progression when learners engage in multiple activities. 54.3% of those engaging in 
three or more activities have now progressed to higher education, a higher rate than those who engaged in one 
activity (44.5%) and significantly higher than the expected norm for these groups. 

Our Schools and College Liaison team delivers a separate programme of outreach activity with key feeder schools 
and colleges with high numbers of pupils who fall into OfS access and participation target groups. 

Students:

The number of UK higher education students at the 
University has increased by 4% in the academic year from 
20,820 to 21,617. Over a five year period the student 
numbers have shown strong year-on-year growth which 
has been driven by the popularity of the University as a 
provider of higher education.

During this period of sustained growth, the University 
has continued to invest in its staff to ensure the highest 
standard of teaching is provided to students and as a 
result has maintained a low ratio of students to staff (for 
UK higher education).

The University is determined to create a positive learning 
culture and the best possible learning environment for our 
students. We have continued to ensure student wellbeing 
and satisfaction remains key to our student experience. 
This is strongly supported by our student satisfaction 
levels in the National Student Survey which had been 
consistently strong. The 2021 NSS results show a drop 
in overall satisfaction for the vast majority of institutions 
associated with the pandemic. Derby’s fall to 78% for 
Overall Satisfaction masks an improvement in our sector 
ranked performance from 57th in 2020 to 48th in 2021.
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Sources of funding

The main source of funding is from tuition fees and education contracts, supplemented by funding body and research 
grants. Loans from the Student Loans Company are available to undergraduates for their first degree course. 
Postgraduate students can apply for maintenance loans instead of a student loan. Both of these are repayable by 
former students as a percentage of their earnings.

Our grant income is mainly from OfS recurrent grants. In addition, there are grants from the Education and Skills 
Funding Agency in respect of further education students, and research grants from a variety of funders. Other sources 
of income for the group include, for example, consultancy, student residences, catering and conferences. 

Risk and risk management 
The table below outlines the parties involved in the mitigation and review of risks.

Party Role relating to risk mitigation and review

Governing Council Ensure the establishment and monitoring of systems of control and 
accountability including financial and operational controls, solvency and 
risk assessment

Audit and Risk Committee Review the risk management system, including reports from 
management and auditors

Strategy, Finance and Planning 
Committee

Consider the recognition, assessment and management of corporate 
risks, to ensure that the University and University Group remain solvent

Vice-Chancellor Provide leadership, both academic and administrative, to the whole 
University; secure a financial base sufficient to allow the delivery of the 
University’s mission, aims and objectives; and oversee risk

The Vice-Chancellor’s Executive (VCE) reports risk regularly to the Governing Council (GC) through the Audit and Risk 
Committee (ARC). The roles and responsibilities of ARC are discussed in more detail in the Report of the Governing 
Council on pages 11 to 21. The Group identifies key strategic risks and actions to mitigate their potential impact. Each 
risk has an assigned risk appetite: the amount of risk the University is willing to take in order to meet its strategic 
objectives. A risk appetite of 1 is the lowest possible risk the University is willing to take, whereas a risk appetite of 
10 reflects a willingness to accept higher levels of risk. Key strategic risks are defined as ‘risks that would lead to the 
University’s failure to meet its strategic objectives’. 

These key risks are aligned to the portfolios of the University Executive Board (UEB) members in order (i) to ensure 
accountability and (ii) to embed risk management, including the concepts of ‘risk appetite’, across the day-to-day 
operations of the institution. As part of quarterly reporting to GC, UEB members provide a commentary for the 
strategic risks allocated to them, including updates on the actions to mitigate those risks. A brief description of 
each risk category, along with key risks identified within the category is provided below. The seven key strategic risk 
categories on which the University focuses, along with their individual risk appetites is as follows: 

Reputation (risk appetite 3) 

It is regarded as critical that the University preserves its reputation. The University therefore has a low appetite for 
risk in the conduct of any of its activities that puts its reputation in jeopardy, could lead to undue adverse publicity, or 
could lead to loss of confidence by UK political bodies, regulators and funders of its activities. Significant risks within 
this category include negative performance in league tables that could impact our ability to attract students and meet 
financial obligations. 

Compliance and regulation (risk appetite 1)  

The University places great importance on compliance, and has no appetite for any breaches in regulation, 
professional standards, research or ethics, bribery or fraud. It maintains accreditations related to programmes 
or standards of operation, and has a very low appetite for risk relating to actions that may put accreditations in 
jeopardy. This risk has further consolidated as the OfS has taken a stronger stance on a range of issues and the 
University continues to monitor additional risks regarding Vice-Chancellor remuneration and the continuing risk of 
cyber security attacks. 
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Financial sustainability (risk appetite 3)  

The University aims to maintain its long-term financial viability and its overall financial strength. The objective is to 
achieve a balanced portfolio of projects and investments which enable delivery of the core financial outputs as per 
the approved five year plan. Key risks include: overreliance on tuition fees; ability to deliver the Strategic Framework 
against a backdrop of a sustained period of rising costs and pressure on our pension contributions for LGPS and 
TPS due to current fund shortfalls. Strong budgetary and financial control continues to be used to mitigate this risk 
which has also been affected by the challenging external context resulting from the Covid-19 pandemic, in which 
universities have operated in 2020/21. 

People and culture (risk appetite 6)  

The University aims to value, support, develop and utilise the full potential of its staff to make the University a 
stimulating and safe place to work. It places importance on a culture of academic freedom, equality and diversity, 
dignity and respect, collegiality, annual reviews, staff development, and safeguarding the health and safety of staff, 
students and visitors. It has a low appetite for any deviation from its standards in these areas. Within this category 
the recruitment and retention of personnel and the maintenance of a robust health and safety culture are identified 
as key risks. 

Learning, teaching and student experience (academic quality) (risk appetite 3)  

The University’s ambition is to be in the top quartile of surveys related to student experience. It recognises that this 
should involve an increased degree of risk in academic development and the student experience and is comfortable 
in accepting this risk subject to ensuring that potential benefits and risks are fully understood before developments 
are authorised, with measures established to mitigate risk. Key risks include the provision of a relevant inclusive 
curriculum, delivery of innovative teaching culture and maintaining high levels of student satisfaction. These, together 
with the ongoing impact of Covid-19, have put a particular focus on this risk in 2020/21. 

Research, enterprise and knowledge transfer (risk appetite 7)  

The University wishes to grow its research activities, and improve its performance in the Research Excellence 
Framework (REF) assessment. It wishes to develop academic and industrial collaborations and partnerships, 
facilitating research and enterprise opportunities through institutes and research centres. It also aims to transform 
knowledge, ideas, skills and expertise into advice, innovation, intellectual property and enterprise. The University 
recognises that this is likely to involve an increased degree of risk whilst ensuring that sensible measures are also 
established to mitigate risk. The key risk is delivering a strong REF submission whilst growing our income generating 
activities and ensuring research ethics. A new Research and Innovation Strategy has been approved and will guide 
future work in this area.  

Partnerships and international (risk appetite 8)  

The University aims to achieve global impact in its activities, promoting research, collaborations and staff/student 
exchanges and increasing international recruitment. It has a strong appetite for developing this area to the extent 
that it supports the mission and reputation of the University. The key risks of ensuring we do not have an overreliance 
on a limited number of markets and increased competition for overseas students remain. These risks, together with 
the ongoing impact of Covid-19, have also put a particular focus on this area in 2020/21. 

Institutional Success Measures   

During 2020/21, the University began to embed its new Performance Framework which supports delivery of 
the Strategic Framework described above. The Institutional Success Measures (ISMs) have been set in a wider 
hierarchy of measures to provide consistency and clarity around how different indicators link together, supporting 
an understanding that there will be differential contributions towards strategic objectives across the University and 
establishing a foundation for developing detailed performance targets. 

The University has set ambitious targets for the new measures which are due to be achieved by the end of the 
2023/24 academic year. Therefore, performance is assessed against the trajectory towards this target.

Performance is assessed monthly at VCE and reported to Governing Council and its relevant committees in the 
context of the developing internal and external environment. At the beginning of the academic year 2020/21, within 
an extremely challenging and unprecedented context and operating environment, a critical decision was made not 
to revise overall targets but to set the challenge of continuing to deliver to plan.
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An imperative therefore in evaluating performance was to recognise the environment in which the University 
operated throughout the year. Using absolute data presented in the ISM table indicates under or poor performance 
for several measures. However, when taken in context and compared with the University’s competitor and 
aspirational groups it is evident that the results excelled across a number of success measures. Based upon this 
premise, performance of five out of eight ISMs is considered to be ‘on target’.

The overall position as at year-end 2021/21 was as follows:

ISM

Fi
na

l T
a

rg
et

 
23

/2
4

Ye
a

r 
En

d
 

20
/2

1

Im
p

a
ct

ed
 b

y 
C

ov
id

Re
la

tiv
e 

Pe
rf

or
m

a
nc

e

1. NSS overall satisfaction score 90% 78%

2. Proportion of full-time first-degree students who are UK domiciled in highly 
skilled employment or further study

80% 72%

3. Number of 3* outputs per staff FTE with significant responsibility for Research 2.5 2.82

4. Cumulative score for KEF Perspectives of Research Partnerships, Working with 
Businesses, Local Growth / Regeneration

20 24*

5. Attainment gap in degree outcomes between white and black students 15.5% 20%

6. Group Operating Surplus £16.5m £23.1m

7. Proportion of non-tuition fee income to total income 27.6% 17.7%

8. Market share of Home FT first degree students 10% 10.5%

9. Staff connection with ‘direction and ambition’ of University 80% **

* Calculated value based on HEBCI return 
** Full staff survey to be conducted in Autumn 2021

Subsidiaries
The main activity of the University of Derby group remains the provision of education. The subsidiary companies are 
placed to support this activity, two of which have significant external activity, as described below.

Derbyshire Student Residences Limited
Derbyshire Student Residences Limited (DSRL) a company limited by guarantee that is also an exempt charity, 
complements our educational provision by managing the provision of student accommodation. The charity’s aims 
are to provide affordable and safe accommodation for students whilst they are studying. 

DSRL has provided residential accommodation to more than 2,360 students in 2021. The main objective for 2020/21 
was to, while maintaining high standards of health and safety to ensure student wellbeing during the pandemic, 
improve the financial performance of the business to enable it to invest in upgrading the accommodation that it 
operates. This was challenging in a year where financial consideration was given to ensure fair treatment of students 
during periods of lock down. The overall residential offer to students is being developed as the market for student 
accommodation changes in response to changing patterns in higher education. These developments continue to 
be informed by market research including a review of best practice at other institutions and assessment of the local 
market prices to remain competitive for non-first year students. 

Derby Theatre
University of Derby Theatre Limited (Derby Theatre), a registered charity, is a professional producing theatre 
funded by the University of Derby and Arts Council England. In the past seven years, since becoming an Arts 
Council National Portfolio Organisation in 2014, it has established itself as a bold new force in the theatre industry. 
Pioneering its innovative Learning Theatre vision, which sees learning and community placed at the heart of its 
role as a producing theatre, the theatre has received national recognition for the quality of its theatre productions, 
innovative learning programmes and transformational artist development scheme, In Good Company. 
 
It plays a major role too in the delivery of the University’s theatre courses – Technical Theatre, Contemporary Theatre 
and Performance and Costume and Set Design – with students being taught in the theatre, performing on its stages, 
and receiving input into their professional development from theatre professionals. 
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Trade union facility time

The Trade Union (Facility Time Publication Requirements) Regulations 2017 came into force on 1 April 2017. These 
regulations place a legislative requirement on relevant public sector employers to collate and publish, on an annual 
basis, a range of data on the amount and cost of facility time within their organisation. The data below covers the 
relevant period of 1 April 2020 - 31 March 2021 and includes both of the University’s recognised trade unions; UCU 
and UNISON.

Relevant union official

Number of employees who were relevant union officials during 
the period

Full-time equivalent employee 
number

16 15.61

Percentage of time spent on facility time

Percentage of time Number of employees

0% 0

1-50% 16

51%-99% 0

100% 0

Percentage of pay bill spent on facility time

Total costs Amount

Total cost of facility time £46,028

Total pay bill (Apr-20 to Mar-21) £105,127,666

Percentage of the total pay bill spent on facility time* 0.04%

Paid trade union activities

Time spent on paid trade union activities as a percentage of total 
paid facility time**

38.26%

*  calculated as: (total cost of facility time ÷ total pay bill) x 100 
**  calculated as: (total hours spent on paid trade union activities by relevant union officials during the relevant 

period ÷ total paid facility time hours) x 100 

Public interest disclosures

Whistleblowing policy
Many of us at one time or another will have concerns about what may be happening at work. Usually these 
concerns are easily resolved. However, when they are about serious malpractice, such as financial irregularities, 
dangerous working conditions, discrimination or fraud, it can be difficult to know what to do. Our whistleblowing 
policy is designed to enable our staff to raise their concerns about serious malpractice at an early stage and in a 
safe manner. The policy allows them to raise the matter when it becomes a concern rather than wait for proof.

Modern slavery policy 
The term modern slavery covers the use of slavery, servitude, forced or compulsory labour and use of human 
trafficking. This also covers exploitation which includes:
·	Sexual exploitation
·	Removal of organs
·	Securing services by force, threats or deception
·	Securing services from children and vulnerable persons

We take the subject of modern slavery extremely seriously and have a zero-tolerance approach to slavery in all 
forms from both ourselves and our supply chain. We are committed to training relevant areas of the business, 
optimising our current procedures and policies and creating a supplier code of conduct.
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Financial Review 
The Group has delivered a strong financial performance in the year, returning to an operating surplus of £8.2m 
(2019/20: deficit £7.3m). Despite uncertainty created by the pandemic, and its potential impact on student recruitment, 
income increased by 3.8%. In response to this uncertainty, additional actions were taken to control expenditure, 
resulting in a 2.9% reduction.

The Group’s Statement of Financial Position was strengthened in the short-term and is considered stable in the  
long-term. Short-term improvements in liquidity are as a result of the impact of the positive movement in the operating 
result, gains on investments and a focus on credit management which resulted in cash balances increasing by £29.5m 
or 55% to £82.8m and net current assets by £28.8m or 90% to £60.9m. At the long-term level, the net impact of the fixed 
asset revaluation and an increase in pension liabilities saw total net assets remain largely stable at £333.3m. 

These factors, taken together with a focus on strategic planning as outlined in the section on going concern, means 
that we are well placed to respond to the ongoing uncertainty in the external environment.

The Group income and expenditure position is summarised as follows:

 Consolidated
  2020/21 2019/20 2018/19 2017/18 2016/17
  £m £m £m £m £m
     

Income  201.2 193.8 192.5 178.3 164.8

Expenditure  195.5 201.3 194.2 179.4 165.4

Deficit before gains/losses on investments  5.7 (7.5) (1.7) (1.1) (0.6)

Profit on fixed assets and investments  2.5 0.2 4.9 2.2 1.9

Operating surplus/(deficit)  8.2 (7.3) 3.2 1.1 1.3

Revaluation and Pension (loss)/gain  (11.6) (14.6) 14.8 7.8 14.3

Total comprehensive income  (3.4) (21.9) 18.0 8.9  15.6

The University has a policy of revaluing its land and buildings every three years, with a desktop valuation in 
intervening years. The 2021/21 desktop valuation has resulted in a £(2.3)m unrealised deficit.  Pension cost accounting 
adjustments relate to the LGPS scheme. Total contributions paid to the scheme in 2020/21 are £8.1 million. The 
accounting adjustments of £(9.3)m are in addition to contributions and are driven by factors such as the current year 
and prior year discount rate and pension increase assumptions, as well as return on net assets.

Income £m
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Income has grown 3.8% year-on-year and by 22.1% over the past five years. Income from tuition fees represents 77.5% 
of total income and continues to be the driver of income growth. In particular, fees from part-time students have 
increased 23.8% year-on-year, continuing the trend of strong growth seen last year. Other income types have remained 
largely static over the past five years. 
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Expenditure £m
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Staff costs Other operating expenses
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Annual expenditure decreased by £5.8m or 2.9% year-on-year, returning to levels similar to 2018/19. This decrease 
is due to reductions in staff costs which are £7.5m lower than 2019/20 and driven by a fall in staff numbers. The 
former includes a £3.6m restructuring provision included in 2019/20 following a restructuring exercise carried out in 
late 2019/20 and a £0.3m correction in the 2019/20 holiday pay accrual following changes in staff behaviour due 
to Covid-19. The latter is the result of the implementation of a vacancy management panel in 2020/21 to allow for 
senior management scrutiny of staff recruitment.   

During the financial year, our operations generated a net cash inflow of £35.1m (2019/20: inflow of £18.5m) and our 
financing activities a net cash outflow of £2.4m (2019/20: outflow £3.8m). This cashflow was used to fund investment 
activities of £3.2m (including capital spend of £6.5m), generating a net cash inflow of £29.5m (2019/20: £7.4m 
inflow).

The current ratio at the year end is 2.49 (2019/20: 1.83) reflecting the strong liquidity of the group. 

The Group manages cash to enable it to fulfil future requirements, as well as those occurring in the current year. The 
operating surplus generates funds to invest in the facilities and infrastructure for the benefit of the students and staff. 
The Group look to settle accounts on time and within 30 days of the date of invoice, with smaller local suppliers 
being paid sooner where possible. 

The trend in gross and net debt over the past five years is shown in the following chart:

Cash flows
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Going concern and long term financial sustainability
The forward-looking approach taken by the Group assesses risks to ensure they are adequately addressed so that 
they fit within the Group’s risk appetite. Significant longstanding uncertainties are faced by the sector as a whole.  
While the impacts of Brexit have begun to crystallise with the change to applying overseas fees for students arriving 
from the EU and its associated reduction in those students, other challenges such as the potential implementation of 
recommendations from the Augar review into post-18 funding have yet to be fully realised, and are not anticipated to 
impact during the immediate going concern period.

Covid-19 continues to add uncertainty to the environment with the potential for further lockdowns and continued 
inflationary pressures leading to the prospect of increased costs, both for staff and non-staff items.  Teacher 
assessed grades have increased the competition in student recruitment and have contributed to a particularly 
challenging 2021/22 recruitment cycle. Despite the significant challenges, the Group remains robust in terms of its 
strong financial management.

The Group, taking account of the above environment, has undertaken a series of stress test scenarios to model its 
financial health should some, or all, of the risks materialise. As a result of this testing, the Group is confident that it 
has adequate resources and strategies in place to remain in operation for the foreseeable future.

The Group has always maintained a strong level of cash, enabling funds to be available quickly for capital projects 
and other requirements, and has strengthened this position over the current year. The current ratio has grown to 2.49 
and indicates a good level of liquidity for the group. Liquidity days are strong and are monitored on a regular basis.  
Unrestricted reserves have grown in the current year by £4m to £70m.

Despite the challenges, the University will continue to do what it does best: to provide world class learning 
opportunities to our students. The University has a real determination to embrace change and deliver an outstanding 
experience for everyone. We continue to be a modern and vibrant place to study and a place which attracts the 
best students. The Group uses a five-year financial planning horizon to ensure it remains financially resilient. These 
forecasts factor in any known uncertainties and risks and the Group’s sensitivity to them. The Group’s forecasts and 
five-year plan to 2025/26, plus additional scenario based stress testing, provides adequate assurance that the 
Group is confident it can continue to operate for the foreseeable future. Consequentially, these financial statements 
have been prepared on a going concern basis.
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Report of the Governing Council 
Energy and Carbon Reporting 
Introduction 

As a large, unquoted company incorporated in the UK, the University has a mandatory obligation under The 
Companies (Directors’ Report) and Limited Liability Partnerships (Energy and Carbon Report) Regulations 2018 to 
disclose its UK energy and greenhouse gas emissions. 

As a minimum, the University is required to report our UK energy use relating to gas, electricity and transport and 
associated greenhouse gas emissions. All energy consumed by the University is in the United Kingdom. 

The University has chosen to use tonnes of CO2e per total floor area as its intensity ratio (energy performance 
indicator) to normalise our energy and carbon figures. This is the recommended ratio for the sector and is also 
used for both the Higher Education Statistics Agency data set and Display Energy Certificates. The University estate 
consists of academic and student residence buildings. The gross internal area (GIA) of these, 197,650 m2 at 31 July 
2021, has been used to calculate the intensity ratio. 

Period 

The annual period covered for the purposes of the streamlined energy & carbon reporting section is the year ending 
31 July 2021. 

Gas and electricity consumption was significantly less in 2020/21 compared to 2019/20. This is due to Covid-19 
which did not impact the organisation until late in the academic year in 2020 but affected the whole of 2020/21 
resulting in hugely reduced numbers of people on site. This also contributed to our greatly reduced transport 
emissions in 2020/21.

Emission scope 

Total Emission Scope Summary

Emission Type Total Volume (kWh) Calculated Emissions 
(Tonnes of CO2e)

Scope 1 (direct) 20,550,957 3,774

Scope 2 (indirect) 11,726,550 2,490

Scope 3 (indirect) 194,950 46

Total 32,472,457 6,310

Scope 1 (Direct)
Emissions from activities owned or controlled by the University that release emissions into the atmosphere, for 
example emissions from combustion in owned or controlled boilers, furnaces, vehicles; emissions from chemical 
production in owned or controlled process equipment

Energy Type Definition Total Volume (kWh) Calculated Emissions 
(Tonnes of CO2e)

Gas Emissions from combustion of gas 20,372,525 3,731

Transport
Emissions from combustion of fuel for 
transport purposes

178,432 43

Total  20,550,957 3,774
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Scope 2 (Indirect)
Emissions released into the atmosphere associated with consumption of purchased electricity, heat, steam and 
cooling. These are indirect emissions that are a consequence of the University’s activities, but which occur at sources 
not owned or controlled by the Group.

Energy Type Definition Total Volume (kWh) Calculated Emissions 
(Tonnes of CO2e)

Electricity Emissions from purchased electricity 11,726,550 2,490

Total  11,726,550 2,490

Scope 3 (Indirect)
Emissions that are a consequence of the University’s actions, which occur at sources not owned or controlled by the 
University and which are not classed as Scope 2 emissions. Examples include business travel by means not owned 
or controlled by the University (e.g. grey fleet and rental cars). Under SECR it is not mandatory to report rail or air 
travel.

Energy Type Definition Total Volume (kWh) Calculated Emissions 
(Tonnes of CO2e)

Employee Owned 
Cars

Emissions from business travel in 
employee-owned vehicles where the 
company is responsible for purchasing 
the fuel (mandatory)

194,950 46

Total  194,950 46

Out of Scope
All fuels with biogenic content (such as diesel and petrol (average biofuel blend)) should have the ‘outside of 
scopes’ emissions reported to ensure a complete picture of the University’s emissions is created. However, these are 
not required to be included in the University’s emissions total.

Energy Type Total Volume (kWh) Calculated Emissions 
(Tonnes of CO2)

Transport (e.g. cars) - 6.68

Intensity Ratio 

Intensity Measurement Total Floor Area 
(m2)

Intensity Ratio  
(tCO2e / Area m2)

Tonnes CO2e per Total floor area 197,656 0.032

Year on Year Comparison

Year 2 2020/21 Year 1 2019/20*

Total Emissions (TCO2e) 6310 7,992

Total Energy (kWhs)  32,472,457 37,525,333

Intensity Ratio  0.032 0.040

*Year 1 values stated are based on actual data, where estimated values were included in the 19/20 Annual Report. 
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Quantification and reporting methodology

The University has taken guidance from the UK Government Environmental Reporting Guidelines (March 2019), the 
GHG Reporting Protocol - Corporate Standard, and from the UK Government GHG Conversion Factors for Company 
Reporting document for calculating carbon emissions. Energy usage information (gas and electricity) has been 
obtained directly from the University’s energy suppliers and HH/AMR data, where available, for those supplies 
with HH/AMR meters. For supplies where there was not complete 12 month energy usage available, flat profile 
estimation techniques were used to complete the annual consumption. Transport mileage and/or fuel usage data 
was provided for University/employee owned and rental/hire vehicles. CO2e emissions were calculated using the 
appropriate emission factors from the UK Government GHG conversion information and are retained within the 
University’s Data File for reference where required.

Energy efficiency action

Over the past 12 months, the University has taken the following energy efficiency action:
• Continued replacement of inefficient fluorescent lighting systems with energy efficient LED alternatives
• Feasibility studies have been carried out to install more photovoltaic systems in addition to the six arrays already 

installed across University sites
• Feasibility studies have also been undertaken to replace some University heating systems with low carbon 

alternatives
• The University is currently working with energy consultants, Consultus, to develop its Roadmap to Net Zero Carbon 

to establish what carbon reduction projects are possible at each site.
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Statement of Corporate Governance
This statement of corporate governance covers the period of the financial statements for the year ended 31 July 
2021, and the period up to the date of approval of the audited financial statements.

The establishment of the University of Derby was approved by the Privy Council under the provisions of the Further 
and Higher Education Act on 14th January 1993. It was subsequently incorporated as a company limited by 
guarantee on 7th July 1995. The Company Registration number is 3079282. The University became an exempt charity 
by order of the Privy Council with effect from 30th November 1995 (SI 1995 No 2998). The Office for Students (OfS) is 
the independent regulator of higher education in England and in October 2018, the University was formally entered 
in the Register for English higher education providers.

The University is committed to best practice in all aspects of corporate governance. It follows the principles set out in 
the Committee of University Chairs (CUC) HE Governance Code of Practice and complies with the OfS Public Interest 
Governance Principles.

The Governing Council (GC) is the Board of Directors of the Company; it also comprises the Members of the 
Company and the Trustees of the Charity. It observes the highest standards of corporate governance and discharges 
its duties with due regard for the proper conduct of a business that receives public funds, ensuring regularity and 
propriety in the use of this funding as articulated below. The powers and framework for governance are set out in 
the Articles of Association and Ordinances. In summary, the GC:
• Determines the educational character and academic direction and integrity of the University;
• Ensures that students benefit from a valuable learning experience;
• Approves the mission and strategic aims of the University;
• Ensures the establishment and monitoring of systems of control and accountability;
• Ensures that the University fulfils its legal obligations;
• Ensures that there are procedures for handling internal grievance, conflicts of interest, fraud and corruption so as 

to ensure that staff can raise matters of concern;
• Ensures that processes are in place to monitor and evaluate the performance and effectiveness of the  

University, and;
• Monitors and evaluates the performance and effectiveness of the GC itself and conducts its business in 

accordance with best practice
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Corporate Governance Arrangements
GC meets formally five times per year and in addition holds up to two strategic planning events with the VCE 
and the Academic Board. It has a number of formally constituted committees, each of which has clearly defined, 
delegated responsibilities, as outlined in the table below.

Body Chair Purpose

Governing Council (GC) Stephen Smith The main aims of GC are to ensure the University is 
operating in accordance with its legal and regulatory 
obligations and to ensure the long-term financial 
sustainability of the University.

Audit and Risk Committee (ARC) Simon Bolton The function of ARC is to seek assurance about the risk 
management, governance and internal control mechanisms 
in existence. It reviews the underlying data upon which 
decisions are based on and challenges the use of 
resources to ensure that they are used as effectively as 
possible.

Nominations Committee Stephen Smith The function of Nominations Committee is to advise GC on 
the appointment of the Chancellor, the Chair of GC, the 
Vice‐Chancellor, governors, chairs of Council committees, 
members of the University Court and the Clerk to the GC.

Remuneration Committee Neil Calvert The Remuneration Committee follows the guidance as set 
out in the CUC Higher Education Senior Staff Remuneration 
Code, it has responsibility for setting the remuneration 
policy for all members of the Executive Team, including 
pension rights and any compensation payments.

Strategy, Finance and Planning 
Committee (SFPC) 

Stephen Taylor The SFPC advises GC on matters relating to strategy, 
financial performance, planning, employment, 
safeguarding, equality and diversity and corporate 
responsibility of the members of the University Group.

Skills Committee (SC) Olivia Dean The SC is responsible for determining the strategic direction 
of the University’s Skills Education and Training.

Members of Governing Council and Directors
The biographical details of the current members of GC can be viewed on the University’s website at
derby.ac.uk/about/organisation/governance/governors/council-membership

Student and staff representative membership is included in the composition of the GC and all Committees with the 
exception of the ARC, which comprises independent governors and a student representative member. A full list of 
GC members can be found on page 21. 

To provide further transparency about the business of the GC, minimally redacted minutes of the meetings of the 
following are published on the University’s website, once approved.

• GC (2010 onwards)
• Remuneration Committee (July 2017 onwards)
• ARC (October 2019 onwards)
• SFPC (October 2019 onwards)

Effectiveness of Governance Arrangements
The University has assessed through self-declaration and further checks, and satisfied itself that governors, members 
and the VCE can be considered ‘Fit and Proper’ persons.

Through its annual report to GC, ARC has provided assurance regarding the rigour and review of the process by 
which statutory data returns are formally monitored and submitted to relevant regulatory bodies by the University to 
safeguard timely and accurate outputs.

As the effects of the Covid-19 pandemic continued into the 2020/21 academic year, ARC has received reports from 
VCE on plans to move to a hybrid method of teaching delivery, combining online and in person activities to protect 
the student experience, progression, achievement and completion. ARC and GC have continued to be briefed 
throughout the period on risks, mitigations and plans to return to campus. This included regular financial scenario 
modelling for 2021/22 budget planning and September 2021 recruitment. 



16

University of Derby

 GC has maintained oversight of and assurance regarding the adequacy and effectiveness of the University’s 
compliance with the OfS’ ongoing conditions of registration and in turn the OfS Terms and Conditions of Funding 
(2018.15 and 2019.12).

Governors’ skills and experience are reviewed annually through a health check questionnaire considered by the 
Nominations Committee. This process highlights gaps and enables the Chair and Clerk of GC to plan how to 
address any issues that arise. The Chair meets with each member of the GC annually to discuss the effectiveness 
of GC and to provide feedback on individual performance. New governors receive an induction handbook and are 
invited to meet the Chair of GC, the Clerk and members of the VCE. They are also required to undertake mandatory 
training in Prevent awareness, the General Data Protection Regulation and Unconscious Bias. Other training and 
development opportunities are made available, usually through the AdvanceHE development programme and 
invitations to sector briefings run by audit firms.

When considering the succession planning and refreshment of the Board, due regard is given to diversity among 
the members of GC. Nominations Committee undertook a search for a number of positions, including independent 
members to Governing Council and co-opted advisers co-opted advisers Peridot Partners. This served not only to 
strengthen the membership of GC, but the co-option of advisers to ARC and SC is considered to be a pipeline for 
future succession planning to GC.

During the year and up to the date of the approval of the financial statements, the governing body comprised 14 
male and 11 female members and included three members from a BAME background.

GC delegates power to the Remuneration Committee to determine the remuneration and the bonus payments due 
to senior post holders. The Remuneration Committee’s Terms of Reference are aligned to the CUC HE Senior Staff 
Remuneration Code. GC receives an annual report from the Remuneration Committee which was approved by GC in 
November 2021. This report is published on the University’s website.

SFPC advises GC on matters relating to the short and long-term future of the University. It monitors both corporate 
strategy and the forward looking financial position including cash flow and investment priorities, taking into account 
the University’s responsibilities for employment, safeguarding, equality, diversity and for corporate risk management 
and long-term sustainability. SFPC has kept a particularly close scrutiny of the University’s liquidity position in light 
of the requirement from the regulator for registered institutions to report if annual liquidity was likely to fall below 30 
days. The University was not required to report on this matter.

The University established a Skills Committee, which replaced the Further Education Governance Committee, from the 
start of the 2020/21 academic year. Its remit has expanded from FE strategy and management in order to more fully 
align with the Education Inspection Framework and the skills and apprenticeships agenda. GC approved the Terms 
of Reference of the Committee in November 2020. 

GC has taken reasonable steps to ensure that funds from OfS and other public funding bodies are used only for the 
purposes for which they have been given and in accordance with the terms and conditions of those funding bodies. 
This is achieved through ensuring that appropriate financial and management controls are in place to safeguard 
public funds and University assets, as set out in the following section. 

University Court

The University’s Articles of Association state that there shall be a University Court. This is a forum of critical and 
supportive friends of the University. During the year membership has remained at around 180 members, comprising 
external associates and friends, together with governors and senior managers of the University. Meetings of Court 
are presided over by the Chancellor, William Cavendish, Earl of Burlington. Three virtual meetings of Court took 
place during 2020/21 over Microsoft Teams. 
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Statement of Internal Control
This statement of internal control covers the period of the financial statements for the year ended 31 July 2021, and 
the period up to the date of approval of the audited financial statements.

The approach to internal control is risk-based, including an evaluation of the likelihood and impact of risks becoming 
a reality. The system of internal control is based on an ongoing process designed to identify the principal risks to 
the achievement of policies, aims and objectives: to evaluate the nature and extent of those risks; and to manage 
them efficiently, effectively and economically. This process has been in place for the year ended 31 July 2021 and 
up to the date of the approval of the financial statements. However, it is important to note that no system of internal 
control can provide absolute assurance.

GC acknowledges its responsibility for ensuring that a sound system of internal control is maintained. This 
responsibility includes the identification and management of risk as an ongoing process linked to achieving the 
organisation’s objectives. GC has established an ARC, which is responsible for assuring it about the adequacy and 
effectiveness of:

• Risk management, control and governance
• Value for Money (VFM)
• The management and quality assurance of data

It is the role of ARC to advise and assist GC in respect of the entire assurance and control environment of the 
institution. This in turn assists to ensure compliance with the OfS General Ongoing Condition G2: Terms and 
conditions of financial support.

GC’s review of the effectiveness of the system of internal control is informed by the work of externally-appointed 
internal auditors, who operate to the standards set out under Annex C of the Terms and Conditions of Funding 
for Higher Education Institutions published by the OfS. It is also informed by ARC, which has oversight of internal 
audit and reports annually to GC for its approval of the effectiveness of risk management and the system of 
internal control; by the work of the VCE and the risk managers within the University who have responsibility for the 
development and maintenance of the internal control framework; and by comments made by the external auditors in 
their management letter and other reports.

GC confirms that there is an ongoing process for identifying, evaluating and managing the University’s significant 
risks. ARC meets at least four times per year and along with the GC receives a Strategic Risks report at each of 
its meetings. The University has seven Strategic Risks that play a significant role in delivering successful outcomes 
against the University’s Corporate Plan and Strategic Objectives. Across them the Strategic Risks cover business, 
operational and compliance risk as well as financial risk. GC, SFPC and ARC also received and discussed regular 
Business Continuity reports and were able to gain assurance of management’s control over its arrangements, 
particularly during the Covid-19 lockdown period.

Upon the recommendation of ARC, GC appoints an internal auditor to provide assurance about the University’s 
internal control arrangements. ARC receives reports on internal control and risk at each meeting, monitored against 
an agreed plan of internal audit work. The development of the plan is founded on a risk-based assessment 
and through discussion with VCE, submitted for approval by ARC. Recommendations arising from the internal 
auditor’s workplan are reported to and monitored by ARC in order to ensure risk assessment and internal control 
is embedded in the University’s ongoing operations. This in turn contributes to the University’s delivery of value for 
money for both students and the taxpayer.

GC confirms, based on the audit conducted by the internal auditor, that it is able to provide assurance that 
the University’s risk management system is operating effectively and that the University is compliant with OfS 
requirements. 
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Statement of Financial Responsibilities
Statement of Directors’ Responsibilities in respect of the Strategic Report, the Report of the Governing 
Council and the Financial Statements 

Company law, along with the terms and conditions of ongoing registration with the OfS, requires the GC, through 
its Accountable Officer, to prepare and present audited financial statements for each financial year. Under that law 
they have elected to prepare the University financial statements in accordance with UK accounting standards and 
applicable law (UK Generally Accepted Accounting Practice), including FRS 102 The Financial Reporting Standard 
applicable in the UK and Republic of Ireland. The terms and conditions of funding further require the financial 
statements to be prepared in accordance with the 2019 Statement of Recommended Practice – Accounting for 
Further and Higher Education, in accordance with the requirements of the Accounts Direction issued by the OfS. 

Under company law GC must not approve the financial statements unless they are satisfied that they give a true and 
fair view of the state of affairs of the University and of its income and expenditure, gains and losses and changes 
in reserves for that period. The University has complied with the terms and conditions of funding set out within 
documents OfS 2018.15 and OfS 2019.12.
 
In preparing each of the University financial statements, GC is required to:
• select suitable accounting policies and then apply them consistently; 
• make judgements and estimates that are reasonable and prudent; 
• state whether applicable UK accounting standards have been followed, subject to any material departures 

disclosed and explained in the financial statements; 
• assess the University’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going 

concern; and 
• use the going concern basis of accounting unless they either intend to liquidate the parent University or to cease 

operations or have no realistic alternative but to do so. 
 
GC is responsible for keeping adequate accounting records that are sufficient to show and explain the Group’s 
transactions and disclose with reasonable accuracy at any time the financial position of the Group and enable them 
to ensure that its financial statements comply with the Companies Act 2006.

They are responsible for such internal control as they determine is necessary to enable the preparation of financial 
statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and have general responsibility 
for taking such steps as are reasonably open to them to safeguard the assets of the University and to prevent and 
detect fraud and other irregularities.

GC is also responsible for ensuring that:
• funds from whatever source administered by the University for specific purposes have been properly applied to 

those purposes and managed in accordance with relevant legislation; 
• funds provided by OfS and Research England have been applied in accordance with the terms and conditions 

attached to them;
• there are appropriate financial and management controls in place to safeguard public funds and funds from other 

sources; and
• the University’s resources and expenditure are managed efficiently and effectively.
 
GC is responsible for the maintenance and integrity of the University and Group’s financial information included on 
the University’s website. Legislation in the UK governing the preparation and dissemination of financial statements 
may differ from legislation in other jurisdictions.



19

Financial statements 2020/21

Additional areas of assurance
Prevent duties

GC received a copy of the University’s submission to OfS on the University’s ongoing compliance with its Prevent 
duties. It received additional assurances that existing governance and oversight had been widened and further 
strengthened to include the other strands of the CONTEST strategy. The University believes it has demonstrated due 
regard to the Prevent Duty and is not at risk of non-compliance with Prevent.

The OfS has previously indicated the holistic approach by the University of the CONTEST strategy and action plan as 
an area of good practice to be shared with the sector.

Duty to promote the success of the group 

GC and VCE, both individually and together, have acted in the way they consider to be in good faith, would be 
most likely to promote the success of the Group for the benefit of the members, and in doing so have regard to the 
matters set out in s172(1) (a) to (f) of the Companies Act. 

The likely consequences of any decision in the long term 

The Group’s purpose is to provide high quality learning opportunities to learners in the UK and internationally 
who wish to enhance their career and earning potential. We are part of a sector which is well placed to help the 
Government respond to recession through developing key skills in the workforce and innovation through research. 
We have strong financial performance, tight budgetary controls and our going concern modelling shows we are a 
resilient organisation that can withstand and respond to the uncertain external environment. 

The interests of group employees 

Our employees across the Group are fundamental to our mission, which is why they are at the heart of our strategy. 
The health, safety and wellbeing of our employees is one of our primary considerations and we have actively 
engaged with employees throughout the year to ensure staff are fully supported in their roles. 

The Group is a Disability Confident employer demonstrating our commitment to providing an equitable experience 
for people with disabilities. We have robust practices that challenge bias and take a zero tolerance approach to 
discrimination. The Group aims to ensure that every employee, regardless of protected characteristic, is treated 
equally and fairly and that all employees are aware of their responsibilities.

The Group provides staff with an inclusive workplace, providing additional supportive structures for those with 
disabilities. We provide guidance for managers on reasonable adjustments and take active measures to be inclusive 
and accessible. If an employee of the Group becomes disabled during their time with us, we will adapt the working 
environment where possible, in order to keep the employee within the Group.
 
The need to foster the group’s business relationships with suppliers, customers and others 

Our stakeholders are core to our organisation, and we emphasise the fundamental importance of high-quality 
services and trust. We aim to act responsibly and fairly in how we engage with our suppliers, our stakeholders and 
our regulator; all of whom are integral to the successful delivery of our purpose and strategy. 

The impact of the group’s operating on the community and the environment 

Operating in a recognised area of social immobility, the University has a strong focus on widening access to higher 
education in its community. We are ranked second out of the 132 UK universities by HEPI for fair access and believe 
higher education should be equitable, inclusive and open to all with the ambition and desire to learn. 

We have a keen awareness of our impact on the local, national and global environment, and we are particularly 
conscious of our responsibilities. The University has an Environmental Management System in place that ensures we 
continue to manage our environmental impacts, comply with environmental legislation and commit to protecting and 
enhancing the environment. 
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The desirability of the group maintaining a reputation for high standards of 
business conduct 

Our intention is to behave responsibly and ensure that management operate the business in a responsible manner. 
We operate within the high standards of business conduct and good control set out in our Statements of Governance 
and Internal Control, and therefore the company demonstrates the highest standards of governance. 

The need to act fairly between members of the group

Our intention is to behave responsibly towards all parts of our Group and our stakeholders and treat them equally 
and fairly, so all benefit from the successful delivery of our plan.

Disclosure of information to auditors

The directors who held office at the date of approval of this directors’ report confirm that, so far as they are 
each aware, there is no relevant audit information of which the Group’s auditors are unaware; and each director 
has taken all the steps that they ought to have taken as a director to make themselves aware of any relevant 
audit information and to establish that the Group’s auditors are aware of that information. KMPG LLP was not 
re-appointed as the University’s auditors. Following a tender process in June 2021, BDO LLP was appointed to 
commence following professional clearance from KPMG LLP after conclusion of the 20/21 audit. 

Stephen Smith Craig Jones June Hughes

Pro-Chancellor and Chair of 
Governing Council
25 November 2021

Director of Finance
25 November 2021

Clerk to Governing Council
25 November 2021
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Directors and Governing Council

The members of the University’s Governing Council and Committees during the year ended 31 July 2021, and their 
attendance at the meetings held during their membership in that year, together with members serving in the period 
after 31 July 2021 and up to the date on which the financial statements were approved, are shown below.
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Independent Members

Bennett, Sue 5/5 − − − − −

Bolton, Simon 5/5 − 5/5 1/3 4/5 −

Calvert, Neil 5/5 − 4/5 3/3 5/5 −

Chatten, Andrew 4/5 4/4 − − − −

Dean, Olivia 5/5 − 5/5 3/3 5/5 4/4

Dehal, Gurpreet (from 13 September 2021) 0/0 − − 0/0 0/0 −

Edwards, Tony 5/5 4/4 − − − 3/4

Giles, Lesley (to 11 February 2021) 2/3 1/2 − − − −

Howland, Gill 5/5 − − − − 3/4

McKenzie, Gordon 5/5 − 5/5 − − −

Robinson, Peter (from 23 April 2021) 2/2 − − − − −

Smith, Stephen 5/5 4/4 − 3/3 5/5 −

Stables, Hilary 4/5 4/4 − − − −

Storer, Andy (from 1 August 2021) 0/0 0/0 − − − −

Taylor, Stephen 4/5 4/4 − 3/3 4/5 −

Wei, Zhuofang (from 1 August 2021) 0/0 − 0/0 − − −

Yarham, John (from 23 May 2021) 1/1 − − 0/0 0/0 1/1

Ex-Officio Members

Mitchell, Kathryn 5/5 4/4 − 3/3 − 4/4

Union of Students Members

Beck, Corey (to 9 July 2021) 5/5 4/4 − 3/3 4/5 3/4

Cupric, Nina 5/5 − 5/5 − − −

Tymon, Jack (from 10 July 2021) 0/0 0/0 − 0/0 0/0 0/0

Academic Board Staff Members

Akehurst, Sally 4/5 − − − − −

Charles, Sarah (from 15 September 2021) 0/0 − − − − −

Pigden, Louise 5/5 3/4 − − − −

Other Staff Members

Eaglesfield, James 5/5 − − 3/3 4/5 −

Larsen, Ruth (from 23 April 2021) 2/2 − − − − −

NON-COUNCIL MEMBERS

External Committee Members Co-opted by 
Council

Ali, Mahad (from 1 August 2021) − − − − − 0/0

Benkrid, Khaled (from 1 August 2021) − − − − − 0/0

Bolton, Jaine (from 1 August 2021) − − − − − 0/0

Brownell, Liz − − 5/5 − − −

Burmiston, Gary − − 5/5 − − −
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT TO THE 
COUNCIL OF THE UNIVERSITY OF DERBY
Report on the audit of the financial statements

Opinion 
We have audited the financial statements of the University of Derby (“the University”) for the year ended 31 July 
2021 which comprise the Consolidated and University Statement of Comprehensive Income, the Consolidated and 
University Statement of Changes in Reserves, the Consolidated and University Statement of Financial Position, the 
Consolidated Cash Flow Statement and related notes, including the Statement of Principal Accounting Policies.

In our opinion the financial statements: 
• give a true and fair view of the state of the Group’s and the University’s affairs as at 31 July 2021, and of the

Group’s and the University’s income and expenditure, gains and losses and changes in reserves, and of the
Group’s cash flows, for the year then ended;

• have been properly prepared in accordance with UK accounting standards, including FRS 102 The Financial
Reporting Standard applicable in the UK and Republic of Ireland; and

• meet the requirements of the Accounts Direction dated 25 October 2019 issued by the Office for Students.

Basis for opinion 
We conducted our audit in accordance with International Standards on Auditing (UK) (“ISAs (UK)”) and applicable 
law. Our responsibilities are described below. We have fulfilled our ethical responsibilities under, and are 
independent of the group in accordance with, UK ethical requirements including the FRC Ethical Standard. We 
believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is a sufficient and appropriate basis for our opinion. 

Going concern 
The Council has prepared the financial statements on the going concern basis as they do not intend to liquidate the 
Group or the University or to cease their operations, and as they have concluded that the Group and the University’s 
financial position means that this is realistic. They have also concluded that there are no material uncertainties that 
could have cast significant doubt over their ability to continue as a going concern for at least a year from the date of 
approval of the financial statements (“the going concern period”).

In our evaluation of the Council’s conclusions, we considered the inherent risks to the group’s business model and 
analysed how those risks might affect the Group and University’s financial resources or ability to continue operations 
over the going concern period.

Our conclusions based on this work:
• we consider that the Council’s use of the going concern basis of accounting in the preparation of the financial

statements is appropriate;
• we have not identified, and concur with the Council’s assessment that there is not, a material uncertainty related

to events or conditions that, individually or collectively, may cast significant doubt on the Group or the University’s
ability to continue as a going concern for the going concern period.

However, as we cannot predict all future events or conditions and as subsequent events may result in outcomes that 
are inconsistent with judgements that were reasonable at the time they were made, the above conclusions are not a 
guarantee that the Group or the University will continue in operation. 
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Fraud and breaches of laws and regulations – ability to detect 
To identify risks of material misstatement due to fraud (“fraud risks”) we assessed events or conditions that could 
indicate an incentive or pressure to commit fraud or provide an opportunity to commit fraud. Our risk assessment 
procedures included: 

• Enquiring of the Council, the Audit and Risk Committee, internal audit and inspection of policy documentation as
to the Group’s high-level policies and procedures to prevent and detect fraud, including the internal audit function,
and the Group’s channel for “whistleblowing”, as well as whether they have knowledge of any actual, suspected
or alleged fraud.

• Reading Council, Audit & Risk Committee and Finance & General Purposes Committee minutes.
• Obtaining a copy of the Group’s fraud register.

We communicated identified fraud risks throughout the audit team and remained alert to any indications of fraud 
throughout the audit. 

As required by auditing standards, and taking into account possible pressures to meet loan covenants and 
performance targets, we perform procedures to address the risk of management override of controls and the risk 
of fraudulent revenue recognition, in particular the risk that income from tuition fees is recorded in the wrong period 
and the risk that Group management may be in a position to make inappropriate accounting entries, and the risk of 
bias in accounting estimates and judgements such as impairment and pension assumptions.

We did not identify any additional fraud risks. 

In determining the audit procedures we took into account the results of our evaluation and testing of the operating 
effectiveness of some of the Group-wide fraud risk management controls.

We also performed procedures including:  
• Identifying journal entries to test based on risk criteria and comparing the identified entries to supporting

documentation. These included those posted with unusual revenue combinations, journals posted at period end,
users who posted few journals and unusual journal entries to cash and borrowings.

• Assessing significant accounting estimates for bias.
• For transactions related to revenue in the period prior to 31 July 2021, we assessed whether revenue had

been recognised in the appropriate period by inspecting a sample of transactions and agreeing to supporting
evidence.

Identifying and responding to risks of material misstatement due to non-compliance with laws and regulations 

We identified areas of laws and regulations that could reasonably be expected to have a material effect on the 
financial statements from our general commercial and sector experience, and through discussion with the Council 
and other management (as required by auditing standards), and from inspection of the Group’s regulatory and legal 
correspondence and discussed with the Council and other management the policies and procedures regarding 
compliance with laws and regulations.   

As the Group is regulated, our assessment of risks involved gaining an understanding of the control environment 
including the entity’s procedures for complying with regulatory requirements. 

We communicated identified laws and regulations throughout our team and remained alert to any indications of 
non-compliance throughout the audit.

The potential effect of these laws and regulations on the financial statements varies considerably. 

Firstly, the Group is subject to laws and regulations that directly affect the financial statements including financial 
reporting legislation (including related companies legislation), taxation legislation, pensions legislation and specific 
disclosures required by higher education and related legislation and we assessed the extent of compliance with 
these laws and regulations as part of our procedures on the related financial statement items.   
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Secondly, the Group is subject to many other laws and regulations where the consequences of non-compliance could 
have a material effect on amounts or disclosures in the financial statements, for instance through the imposition of 
fines or litigation or the need to include significant provisions. Auditing standards limit the required audit procedures 
to identify non-compliance with these laws and regulations to enquiry of the directors and other management and 
inspection of regulatory and legal correspondence, if any. Therefore, if a breach of operational regulations is not 
disclosed to us or evident from relevant correspondence, an audit will not detect that breach.

Context of the ability of the audit to detect fraud or breaches of law or regulation

Owing to the inherent limitations of an audit, there is an unavoidable risk that we may not have detected some 
material misstatements in the financial statements, even though we have properly planned and performed our audit 
in accordance with auditing standards. For example, the further removed non-compliance with laws and regulations 
is from the events and transactions reflected in the financial statements, the less likely the inherently limited 
procedures required by auditing standards would identify it.  

In addition, as with any audit, there remained a higher risk of non-detection of fraud, as these may involve collusion, 
forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal controls. Our audit procedures are 
designed to detect material misstatement. We are not responsible for preventing non-compliance or fraud and 
cannot be expected to detect non-compliance with all laws and regulations.

Other information 
The Council is responsible for the other information, which comprises the Financial Highlights, the Financial 
Review, the Public Benefit Statement, the Corporate Governance Statement, the Statement of Internal Control and 
the Indicators of Financial Health. Our opinion on the financial statements does not cover the other information 
and, accordingly, we do not express an audit opinion or, except as explicitly stated below, any form of assurance 
conclusion thereon. 

Our responsibility is to read the other information and, in doing so, consider whether, based on our financial 
statements audit work, the information therein is materially misstated or inconsistent with the financial statements or 
our audit knowledge. Based solely on that work: 
• we have not identified material misstatements in the other information; and
• in our opinion the information given in the Strategic Review and the Report of the Governors and Corporate

Governance Statement, which together constitute the strategic report and the directors’ report for the financial year, 
is consistent with the financial statements.

Council responsibilities 
As explained more fully in their statement set out on page 18, the Council is responsible for: the preparation of the 
financial statements and for being satisfied that they give a true and fair view; such internal control as it determines 
is necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether 
due to fraud or error; assessing the Group and parent University’s ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, 
as applicable, matters related to going concern; and using the going concern basis of accounting unless it either 
intends to liquidate the Group or the parent University or to cease operations, or has no realistic alternative but to 
do so. 

Auditor’s responsibilities 
Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements as a whole are free from 
material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue our opinion in an auditor’s report. Reasonable 
assurance is a high level of assurance, but does not guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with ISAs 
(UK) will always detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are 
considered material if, individually or in aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic 
decisions of users taken on the basis of the financial statements.

A fuller description of our responsibilities is provided on the FRC’s website at www.frc.org.uk/auditorsresponsibilities.
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REPORT ON OTHER LEGAL AND REGULATORY REQUIREMENTS

We are required to report on the following matters by the Accounts Direction dated 25 October 2019 issued by the 
Office for Students (‘the Accounts Direction’).

In our opinion, in all material respects:
• funds from whatever source administered by the Group or the University for specific purposes have been properly

applied to those purposes and managed in accordance with relevant legislation;
• income has been applied in accordance with the University’s Statutes (or articles of government for post 1992

institutions); and
• funds provided by the Office for Students, UK Research and Innovation (including Research England), the Education

and Skills Funding Agency and the Department for Education have been applied in accordance with the relevant
terms and conditions.

Matters on which we are required to report by exception 
We are required by the Accounts Direction to report to you where the University has an access and participation 
plan that has been approved by the Office for Students’ director of fair access and participation and the results of 
our audit work indicate that the Group’s and the University’s expenditure on access and participation activities for 
the financial year disclosed in Note 9b has been materially misstated.

We are also required by the Accounts Direction to report to you where the results of our audit work indicate that 
the Group’s and the University’s grant and fee income, as disclosed in note 3 to the financial statements has been 
materially misstated.

We have nothing to report in these respects.  

THE PURPOSE OF OUR AUDIT WORK AND TO WHOM WE OWE OUR RESPONSIBILITIES 

This report is made solely to the Council and in accordance with the Charters and Statutes of the institution. Our 
audit work has been undertaken so that we might state to the Council those matters we are required to state to 
them in an auditor’s report and for no other purpose. To the fullest extent permitted by law, we do not accept or 
assume responsibility to anyone other than the University and the Council for our audit work, for this report, or for the 
opinions we have formed. 

Sarah Brown
for and on behalf of KPMG LLP, Statutory Auditor 
Chartered Accountants 
One Snowhill
Snow Hill Queensway
Birmingham
B4 6GH
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Statement of Principal Accounting Policies 
For the year ended 31 July 2021

The following accounting policies have been applied consistently in dealing with items which are considered 
material in relation to the financial statements.

1. Accounting convention

Basis of preparation 
The accounts have been prepared in accordance with the FRS 102, Statement of Recommended Practice: Accounting 
for Higher Education Institutions (2019), applicable accounting standards and Companies Act, where appropriate. 
The University is a public benefit entity and therefore has applied the relevant public benefit requirements of FRS102.

Going concern
The Group and parent University’s activities, together with the factors likely to affect its future development, 
performance and position, are set out in the Strategic Report. The Strategic Report also describes the financial 
position of the Institution, its cash flows, liquidity position and borrowing facilities.

The financial statements have been prepared on a going concern basis which the Governing Council consider to be 
appropriate for the following reasons.

The Governing Council have prepared cash flow forecasts for a period of at least 12 months from the date of 
approval of these financial statements. After reviewing these forecasts the Governing Council is of the opinion that, 
taking account of severe but plausible downsides, including a shortfall in student recruitment, increased costs or 
ongoing impact of Covid-19, the Group and parent University will have sufficient funds to meet their liabilities as 
they fall due over the period of 12 months from the date of approval of the financial statements (the going concern 
assessment period).

Consequently, the Governing Council is confident that the Group and parent University will have sufficient funds to 
continue to meet their liabilities as they fall due for at least 12 months from the date of approval of the financial 
statements and therefore have prepared the financial statements on a going concern basis.

Basis of consolidation
Consolidated accounts have been prepared to incorporate the results of the University and its subsidiaries as listed 
in note 14 to the accounts. 

The financial results of the University of Derby Students’ Union are not consolidated, as the Union is an 
independently constituted body. The following accounting policies have been applied consistently in dealing with 
items which are considered material in relation to the financial statements.

2. Tangible fixed assets

It is the policy of the University to revalue its land and buildings every three years. The valuations are carried out by 
Gerald Eve LLP, the last full valuation was carried out at 31 July 2019, with a desktop review at 31 July 2021.

Land and buildings are carried at cost, or valuation as at 31 July 2021. All other tangible fixed assets are stated at 
cost. Items of equipment costing less than £10,000 are written off in the year of purchase. 

Land is assumed to have an indefinite useful economic life and is therefore not depreciated. Depreciation for all 
other assets is provided to write off the cost or valuation of fixed assets, over their estimated useful lives on a 
straight-line basis, at the following annual rates:

Buildings Between 1.25% and 10%
Leasehold properties Over the term of the lease
Plant and equipment Between 10% and 33.3%
IT infrastructure and computer equipment Between 20% and 33.3%
Motor vehicles 25%

As residential buildings are depreciated over a period of more than 50 years, an annual impairment review is 
carried out to ensure the adequacy of the carrying value.

All tangible fixed assets, which are over 10 years old, no longer in use and have been fully written down, are 
removed from the tangible fixed assets schedules.
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Assets in the course of construction are treated as capital work in progress in tangible fixed assets until they are 
commissioned for use. They are then capitalised and depreciated from the date of initial utilisation.

Assets that are anticipated to be sold within 12 months of the balance sheet date are transferred from tangible fixed 
assets to assets held for sale under current assets. A sale is only recognised upon completion of the sales contract.

3. Intangible fixed assets

Intangible assets are non-monetary assets that are identifiable but have no physical appearance, these consist of 
goodwill and other intangibles. Goodwill arises on consolidation and is based on the difference between the fair 
value of the consideration given for the undertaking acquired and the fair value of its separable net assets at the 
date of acquisition. Goodwill is amortised over its estimated economic life of 25 years on a straight-line basis. A 
full year of amortisation is taken in the year of acquisition. Where there is an impairment in the carrying value of 
goodwill, the loss is incurred in the results of the period. 

Negative goodwill relating to non-monetary assets is released to the Statement of Comprehensive Income and 
Expenditure as those assets are recovered through depreciation or sale. Negative goodwill relating to monetary 
assets is released to the Statement of Comprehensive Income and Expenditure in the period the monetary assets 
are realised.

Intangible assets other than goodwill are recognised only if it is probable that the expected future economic benefits 
that are attributable to the asset will flow to the entity and the cost of the asset can be measured reliably. As per 
IFRS 102 the probability recognition criteria is always considered satisfied for intangible assets that are separately 
acquired.

Expenditure on internally generated intangible assets related to research or similar activities is recognised as an 
expense in the period it is incurred. Where expenditure can be distinguished between research and development 
phases, the expenditure related to development activities is capitalised subject to meeting the remaining recognition 
criteria of internally generated intangible assets.

Intangible assets are initially measured at cost. Subsequent measurement is at cost less any accumulated 
amortisation and any accumulated impairment losses. Intangible assets are amortised on a straight-line basis over 
their useful economic lives, which are reviewed at each reporting date. At the balance sheet date the only class of 
intangible asset held by the Group is computer software, which is depreciated at an annual rate between 20% and 
33.3%.

4. Leased assets

Where the Group, acting as a lessee, enters into financing arrangements that transfer substantially all the risks and 
rewards incidental to ownership, the leases are treated as being finance leases. These assets are treated as if they 
had been purchased outright and the corresponding liability to the leasing company is included as an obligation 
under finance leases. 

Depreciation on leased assets is charged to income and expenditure account over the economic life of the asset. 
The principal repayment is deducted from the lease obligation. 

All other leases are ‘operating leases’ and the annual rentals payable are charged to the Statement of 
Comprehensive Income and Expenditure, with no amounts included in the Statement of Financial Position for the 
asset in use. 

Where the Group acts as a lessor for assets that are held for rental under operating leases, these assets are 
recorded as fixed assets. The rental income from operating leases is recognised on a straight-line basis over the 
period of the lease, irrespective of when such payments are made.

5. Stocks

All stocks are stated at the lower of cost and net realisable value. All other consumables are written off to the 
Statement of Comprehensive Income and Expenditure account in the year of purchase.
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6. Revaluation reserve

The revaluation reserve was established on 1st April 1989 at an amount equivalent to the deemed transfer value of 
tangible assets, less loans outstanding in respect of those assets, to which the University acquired unrestricted title 
on that date. Any subsequent net surpluses or deficits arising from revaluations of assets are accounted for within the 
revaluation reserve, until the carrying amount reaches its depreciated historical cost.

An amount corresponding to the depreciation charge on the revalued tangible assets is transferred annually from 
revaluation reserve to the income and expenditure account. Details of the Group’s valuation policy are contained in 
accounting principal 2.

7. Investments

Listed investments are held at fair value with movements recognised in the Statement of Comprehensive Income and 
Expenditure.

8. Retirement benefits

Retirement benefits to employees of the University are provided by the Teachers’ Pension Scheme (TPS) and the 
Local Government Pension Scheme (LGPS). 

It is not possible to separately identify the assets and liabilities of the TPS scheme which are attributable to the 
University due to the mutual nature of the scheme. Therefore, the University accounts for the scheme as if it were 
a defined contribution scheme. Contributions to the TPS scheme are charged to the Statement of Comprehensive 
Income and Expenditure account so as to spread the cost of pensions over employees’ working lives with the 
University in such a way that the pension cost is a substantially level percentage of current and future pensionable 
payroll. The contributions are determined by qualified actuaries on the basis of triennial valuations using a 
prospective benefit method.

The Group’s share of assets and liabilities within the LGPS scheme can be separately identified and therefore the 
LGPS scheme is accounted as a defined benefit scheme, which is externally funded. 

Defined benefit plans
A defined benefit plan is a post-employment benefit plan other than a defined contribution plan. The Company’s net 
obligation in respect of defined benefit plans is calculated by estimating the amount of future benefit that employees 
have earned in return for their service in the current and prior periods; that benefit is discounted to determine its 
present value. The fair value of any plan assets is deducted. The Company determines the net interest expense / 
(income) on the net defined benefit liability (asset)
for the period by applying the discount rate as determined at the beginning of the annual period to the net defined 
benefit liability / (asset) taking account of changes arising as a result of contributions and benefit payments. 

The discount rate is the yield at the balance sheet date on AA credit rated bonds denominated in the currency 
of, and having maturity dates approximating to the terms of the Company’s obligations. A valuation is performed 
annually by a qualified actuary using the projected unit credit method. The Company recognises net defined benefit 
plan assets to the extent that it is able to recover the surplus either through reduced contributions in the future or 
through refunds from the plan.

Changes in the net defined benefit liability arising from employee service rendered during the period, net interest on 
net defined benefit liability, and the cost of plan introductions, benefit changes, curtailments and settlements during 
the period are recognised in the Statement of Comprehensive Income and Expenditure.

Remeasurement of the net defined benefit liability/asset is recognised in other comprehensive income in the period 
in which it occurs.

Termination benefits
Termination benefits are recognised as an expense when the Company is demonstrably committed, without realistic 
possibility of withdrawal, to a formal detailed plan to either terminate employment before the normal retirement 
date, or to provide termination benefits as a result of an offer made to encourage voluntary redundancy. Termination 
benefits for voluntary redundancies are recognised as an expense if the Company has made an offer of voluntary 
redundancy, it is probably that the offer will be accepted, and the number of acceptances can be estimated reliably. 
If benefits are payable more than 12 months after the reporting date, then they are discounted to their present 
value.
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9. Taxation

Corporation tax
The University is considered to pass the tests set out in Paragraph 1 Schedule 6 Finance Act 2011 and therefore it meets 
the definition of a charitable company for UK corporation tax purposes. Accordingly, the University is potentially exempt 
from taxation in respect of income or capital gains received within categories covered by Corporation Tax Act 2010 and 
the Finance Act 2010, to the extent that such income or gains are applied exclusively to charitable purposes.

Value Added Tax
The University’s income is exempt from Value Added Tax (VAT) except as regards its commercial undertakings and 
certain consultancy activities, which are at standard rate. Irrecoverable input VAT is included in the relevant expenditure 
categories.

Subsidiary companies
The University’s trading subsidiary companies, with the exception of Derbyshire Student Residences Limited and University 
of Derby Theatre Limited (companies limited by guarantee and having the same taxation status as the University), are 
subject to Corporation Tax and VAT in the same way as any commercial organisation.

10. Research and development

It is the University’s policy to write off all research and development costs in the year in which they are incurred.

11. Foreign currency

Transactions undertaken in foreign currency are translated at the exchange rate prevailing at the time. Any balances 
held in foreign currency at the year-end are translated at the exchange rate in operation at that date.

12. Cash

Cash includes cash in hand, deposits repayable on demand and overdrafts. Deposits are repayable on demand if they 
are in practice available within 24 hours without penalty.

Cash equivalents are short term, highly liquid investments that are readily convertible to known amounts of cash that are 
subject to an insignificant risk of change in value.

13. Recognition of income

Recurrent grants from the Funding Councils are recognised in the year in which they are receivable.

Non-recurrent grants from the Government are recognised in the year in which they are receivable. Where the grant 
terms require the grant to be matched to specific expenditure the income is recognised to the extent of the equivalent 
expenditure incurred during the year. Government research grants are recognised within the Consolidated Statement of 
Comprehensive Income and Expenditure over the periods in which the University recognises the related costs for which 
the grant is intended to compensate. Where part of a Government grant is deferred, it is recognised as deferred income 
within creditors and allocated between credits due within one year and due after more than one year as appropriate.

Other revenue grants and donations from non-government sources, including research grants from non-government 
sources, are recognised within the Statement of Comprehensive Income and Expenditure when the University is entitled 
to the income and performance related conditions have been met. Income received in advance of performance related 
conditions being met is deferred on the Statement of Financial Position and released to the Statement of Comprehensive 
Income and Expenditure in line with such conditions being met.

Tuition fees represent all fees chargeable to students, or their sponsors, attributable to the period in which the students 
are studying. Any fee income received relating to modules taught in future financial years is treated as deferred income 
at the balance sheet date. All fee income is shown net of any discounts or amounts waived by the University.

Income from research grants, contracts and other services rendered is included to the extent of the equivalent 
expenditure incurred during the year and any related contributions towards overhead costs.

All income from short-term deposits is credited to the Statement of Comprehensive Income and Expenditure in the year in 
which it is earned.
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14. Bursaries

The University provides bursaries to students from its own revenue funds. These bursaries are shown in the Statement 
of Comprehensive Income and Expenditure gross, as expenditure, and not deducted from income.

The University also distributes bursaries on behalf of other organisations. The University acts only as agent and has 
no interest in these funds. As such, these transactions are not recognised in the Statement of Comprehensive Income 
and Expenditure, but are set out in note 24 in the accounts.

15. Accounting for non-exchange transactions/donations and endowments

Non-exchange transactions without performance related conditions are donations and endowments.

Donations and endowments with donor imposed restrictions are recognised within the Statement of Comprehensive 
Income and Expenditure when the University is entitled to the income. Income is retained within the restricted reserve 
until such time that it is utilised in line with such restrictions at which point the income is released to general reserves 
through a reserve transfer.

Investment income and financial appreciation in the value of endowments is recorded in income in the year in 
which it arises and as either restricted or unrestricted income according to the restrictions applied to the individual 
endowment fund.

Donations and endowments with restrictions are classified as restricted reserves with additional disclosure provided 
within the notes to the accounts.

There are four main types of donations and endowments with restrictions:

Restricted donations - the donor has specified that the donation must be used for a particular objective.

Unrestricted permanent endowments - the donor has specified that the fund is to be permanently invested to 
generate an income stream for the general benefit of the University.

Restricted expendable endowments - the donor has specified a particular objective other than the purchase or 
construction of tangible fixed assets, and the University can convert the donated sum into income.

Restricted permanent endowments - the donor has specified that the fund is to be permanently invested to generate 
an income stream to be applied to a particular objective.

Donations with no restrictions are recorded within the Statement of Comprehensive Income and Expenditure when the 
University is entitled to the income.

Capital Government grants are recognised within the Statement of Comprehensive Income and Expenditure over the 
same estimated useful life that is used to determine the depreciation charge associated with the tangible fixed asset. 
Where part of a Government grant is deferred it is recognised as deferred income within creditors and allocated 
between credits due within one year and due after more than one year as appropriate.

Other capital grants and donations from non-government sources are recognised within the Statement of 
Comprehensive Income and Expenditure when the University is entitled to the income and performance related 
conditions have been met. Income received in advance of performance related conditions being met is deferred on 
the Statement of Financial Position and released to the Statement of Comprehensive Income and Expenditure in line 
with such conditions being met.

16. Provisions

The University recognises provisions when it has a legal or constructive obligation as a result of past events where 
it is probable that a transfer of economic benefit will occur and a reliable estimate can be made of the amount of 
obligation.

Enhanced Pensions
The actual cost of any enhanced ongoing pension to former members of staff is paid by the University annually. 
An estimate of the expected future cost of any enhancement to the ongoing pension of a former member of staff 
is charged in full to the Statement of Comprehensive Income and Expenditure in the year that the member of staff 
retires. In subsequent years a charge (or credit) is made to provisions in the Statement of Financial Position to reflect 
any change in the current estimate of the value of the provision.
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17. Employee benefits

Short-term employment benefits such as salaries and compensated absences are recognised as an expense in the 
year in which the employee renders service to the University. Any unused benefits are accrued and measured as the 
additional amount the University expects to pay as a result of the unused entitlement.

18. Reserves

Reserves are allocated between restricted and unrestricted reserves. Restricted endowment reserves include 
balances which, through endowment to the University, are held as a permanently restricted fund as the University 
must hold the fund to perpetuity.

Other restricted reserves include balances through which the donor has designated a specific purpose and therefore 
the University is restricted in the use of these funds.

19. Financial instruments

All loans, investments and short-term deposits held by the Group are classified as basic financial instruments in 
accordance with FRS102. These instruments are initially recorded at the transaction price less any transaction costs 
(historical cost). FRS 102 requires that basic financial instruments are subsequently measured at amortised cost; 
however, the University has calculated that the difference between the historical cost and amortised cost basis is not 
material and so these financial instruments are stated on the Statement of Financial Position at historical cost. Loans 
and investments that are payable or receivable within one year are not discounted.
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Critical Accounting Estimates and 
Judgements
The preparation of the consolidated financial statements in accordance with FRS 102 requires the use of estimates 
and judgements about future conditions, which influence the financial statements. Management is required to 
adopt accounting policies which reflect the Group’s financial performance, financial position and cash flows fairly. 
Significant judgement is required when determining the most suitable accounting policies or estimates that could 
materially impact the financial statements of the Group. These decisions have been made by management using the 
best information available at the time of preparation of the financial statements. Estimates based on assumptions 
and judgements could differ significantly from actual results.

Outlined below are the areas where management has exercised significant judgement to arrive at the outcomes 
presented in these financial statements. These should be read in conjunction with the statement of accounting 
policies presented on pages 26 to 31. 

Revenue recognition
Revenue received from student fee income, payable by either students or their sponsors, is apportioned to the 
period in which it is receivable. There are situations where courses spread over two academic years, in such 
instances revenue received in advance is recognised based on when modules are delivered with the remainder 
recognised as deferred income on the Statement of Financial Position. The accuracy of this methodology is reviewed 
regularly. 

Fixed assets
Tangible fixed assets are depreciated over their useful lives, taking into account residual values where appropriate. 
The actual lives of the assets and residual values are assessed annually and may vary depending on a number of 
factors. In re-assessing asset lives, factors such as technological innovation and maintenance programmes are taken 
into account. Residual value assessments consider issues such as future market conditions, the remaining life of the 
asset and projected disposal values. Further details can be found in note 10.

Local Government Pension Scheme
The present value of the Local Government Pension Scheme defined benefit liability depends on a number of factors 
that are determined on an actuarial basis using a variety of assumptions. The assumptions used in determining the 
net cost (income) for pensions include the discount rate. Any changes in these assumptions, which are disclosed in 
note 23, will impact the carrying amount of the pension liability. Furthermore, a roll forward approach which projects 
results from the latest full actuarial valuation performed at 31 March 2020 has been used by the actuary in valuing 
the pensions liability at 31 July 2021.
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Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive 
Income and Expenditure
For the year ended 31 July 2021

Consolidated University
Note 2021 2020 2021 2020

£000 £000 £000 £000 
Income
Funding body grants 1 19,767 20,046 19,767 20,046
Tuition fees and education contracts 2 155,984 148,383 155,984 148,383
Research grants and contracts 3 2,692 2,198 2,692 2,198
Other income 4 21,986 22,369 9,819 9,927
Investment income 5 782 816 482 625
Total income  201,211 193,812 188,744 181,179

Expenditure
Staff costs  6 115,247 122,741 111,961 118,904
Other operating expenses 7 59,089 58,189 53,200 52,460
Depreciation and amortisation 9,10 &11 18,240 17,685 15,695 15,138
(Reversal of impairment)/impairment of fixed assets 10 (495) (1,303) 149 (1,537)
Interest and other finance costs 8 3,461 3,981 2,067 2,499
Total expenditure  195,542 201,293 183,072 187,464

Surplus/(deficit) before gains/(losses) 
on investments and disposals of fixed assets 5,669 (7,481) 5,672 (6,285)

Gain on investments 2,284 270 2,284 270
Gain/(loss) on investment properties 13 15 (403) 4 5
Profit on disposal of fixed assets 211 327 211 327
Surplus/(deficit) for the year 8,179 (7,287) 8,171 (5,683)

Deficit on revaluation of land and buildings (2,294) (7,221) (3,244) (4,784)
Actuarial loss in respect of pension schemes 23 (9,335) (7,397) (9,180) (6,886)

Total comprehensive income for the year (3,450) (21,905) (4,253) (17,353)

Represented by
Endowment comprehensive income for the year 156 559 156 559
Unrestricted comprehensive income for the year 4,006 (9,660) 3,367 (8,422)
Revaluation reserve comprehensive income for the year (7,612) (12,804) (7,776) (9,490)

(3,450) (21,905) (4,253) (17,353)
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Statement of Changes in Reserves
For the year ended 31 July 2021 

Consolidated Income and expenditure  Non-distributable  Revaluation Total 

account reserve reserve

Endowment Unrestricted 

£000  £000  £000  £000  £000

Balance at 1 August 2020  695  65,961  1,145  268,967  336,768

Surplus from the income and expenditure statement  156 8,023  -  - 8,179

Other comprehensive income - (9,335)  -  - (9,335)

Transfers between revaluation and income and expenditure reserve - 5,318 - (5,318)  -

Revaluation in year -  - - (1,833) (1,833)

Transfer to assets held for sale -  - - (461) (461)

Total comprehensive income for the year  156  4,006 - (7,612) (3,450)

Balance at 31 July 2021  851  69,967  1,145  261,355  333,318

University  Income and expenditure Non-distributable Revaluation Total

account reserve reserve

Endowment Unrestricted

 £000  £000  £000  £000  £000

Balance at 1 August 2020  695  45,068  286  218,997  265,046

Surplus from the income and expenditure statement 156  8,015  -  - 8,171

Other comprehensive income/(expenditure) - (9,180)  -  - (9,180)

Transfers between revaluation and income and expenditure reserve - 4,532 - (4,532)  -

Revaluation in year -  - - (2,783) (2,783)

Transfer to assets held for sale -  - - (461) (461)

Total comprehensive income for the year 156 3,367 - (7,776) (4,253)

Balance at 31 July 2021  851  48,435  286  211,221  260,793 
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Statements of Financial Position
At 31 July 2021

Consolidated University
Note  2021  2020  2021  2020 

 £000   £000   £000   £000  

Non-current assets
Tangible fixed assets 10  480,879  494,389  378,881  392,606 
Intangible fixed assets 11  4,555  4,550  4,555  4,550 
Negative goodwill 12 (5,368) (5,685) (5,368) (5,685)
Investment property 13  5,080  5,065  295  291 
Investments 14  22,046  19,534  22,071  19,559 
Amounts owed by subsidiary undertakings - - 2,068 2,058
Total non-current assets  507,192  517,853  405,502  413,379 

Current assets
Stock  65  64  60  58 
Trade and other receivables within one year 15  17,346  15,797  16,648  15,063 
Trade and other receivables over one year 15  657  600  657  600 
Cash and cash equivalents  82,765  53,216  80,499  51,594 

100,833  69,677  97,864  67,315 
Assets held for sale 16  931  932  931  932 
Total current assets  101,764  70,609  98,795  68,247 

Less: Creditors: amounts falling due within one year 17 (40,880) (38,514) (39,659) (39,030)

Net current assets  60,884  32,095  59,136  29,217 

Total assets less current liabilities  568,076  549,948  461,638  442,596

Creditors: amounts falling due after more than one year 18 (90,172) (88,865) (59,009) (55,558)

Provisions
Provisions 20 (5,744) (7,700) (5,744) (7,700)
Pension provision 23 (138,842) (116,615) (136,092) (114,292)

Total net assets  333,318  336,768  260,793 265,046 

Restricted Reserves
Income and expenditure reserve - endowment reserve  851  695  851  695 
Income and expenditure reserve - restricted reserve  1,145  1,145  286  286 
Unrestricted Reserves
Income and expenditure reserve - unrestricted  69,967  65,961  48,435  45,068 
Revaluation reserve  261,355  268,967  211,221  218,997 

Total Reserves  333,318  336,768  260,793  265,046 

The Financial statements on pages 33 to 36 were approved by the Council on 25 November 2021 and signed on its behalf by: 

Stephen Smith  Craig Jones  Professor Kathryn Mitchell  
Pro-Chancellor and Chairman of Council Director of Finance  Vice-Chancellor and Chief Executive 
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Consolidated Cash Flow Statement   
For the year ended 31 July 2021
 2021 2020 
 £000 £000 
 
Cash flow from operating activities  35,147 18,535 
Cash flow from financing activities (2,423) (3,826) 
Cash flow from investing activities (3,175) (7,328)
Increase in cash and cash equivalents in year 29,549 7,381 
 
Cash and cash equivalents at beginning of year  53,216 45,835 
Cash and cash equivalents at end of year  82,765  53,216

Cash flow from operating activities 
Surplus/(deficit) 8,179 (7,287)

Adjustment for non-cash items
Depreciation and amortisation 18,240 17,685 
Fixed asset impairment (495) (1,303) 
Goodwill released to income (317) (317) 
(Gain)/loss on investment properties (15) 403 
Donated shares in investments  - (48) 
Gain on investments (2,284) (270) 
(Increase)/decrease in stocks (1) 4 
Increase in debtors (1,543) (1,469) 
Increase/(decrease) in creditors 3,197 (1,880) 
(Decrease)/increase in provisions (1,956) 1,072 
Decrease in assets held for sale 1 -
Pension cost less contributions payable 11,183 10,943 
 
Adjustment for investing or financing activities 
Investment income (782) (816) 
Interest payable 3,461 3,981 
Net Endowment (income)/expenditure (156) (559) 
Profit on the sale of fixed assets (211) (327) 
Deferred capital grants released to income (1,354) (1,277)
Net cash flow from operating activities  35,147 18,535

Cash flow from financing activities   
Interest paid (1,752) (1,838) 
Repayment of amounts borrowed (3,835) (2,499) 
Increase in borrowing 3,008  - 
Net Endowment cash expenditure 156 511
Net cash flow from financing activities (2,423) (3,826)

Cash flow from investing activities   
Proceeds from sales of assets held for sale 211  - 
Deferred capital grants received 2,596 768  
Disposal of non-current asset investments -  362  
Investment income 790 612  
Payments to acquire fixed assets (6,538) (8,715) 
Payments to acquire non-current asset investments (225) (362) 
Management of liquid resources  (9)  7 
Net cash flow from investing activities (3,175) (7,328)
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Notes to the Accounts 
For the year ended 31 July 2021 
 Consolidated University 
   2021 2020 2021 2020
  Note £000 £000 £000 £000 

1 Funding council grants      
Office for students (OfS)      
          Recurrent grant    9,126  9,721  9,126  9,721 
          Specific grants   1,879  2,027  1,879  2,027 
          Deferred capital grants released in year - buildings    617  617  617  617 
Education and Skills Funding Agency (or predecessors)   5,640  5,520  5,640  5,520 
Research England research grants    1,310  1,100  1,310  1,100 
Research England other grants    1,195  1,061  1,195  1,061 
   19,767 20,046 19,767 20,046
      

2 Tuition fees and education contracts      

Full-time students   112,823 111,101 112,823 111,101
Full-time students charged overseas fees   13,866 13,277 13,866 13,277
Part-time students   23,052 18,618 23,052 18,618
Part-time students charged overseas fees   4,983 3,785 4,983 3,785
Health authorities   1,260 1,602 1,260 1,602
   155,984 148,383 155,984 148,383

3 Research grants and contracts       
Other - UK based charities    468  285 468  285 
Other - other grants and contracts    2,224  1,913  2,224  1,913 
    2,692  2,198 2,692  2,198 

The source of grant and fee income, included in notes 1 to 3 is as follows:      
Grant and Fee income      
Grant income from the OfS    11,622  12,365 11,622  12,365 
Grant income from other bodies    10,837  9,879  10,837  9,879 
Tuition fee income for research awards (exclusive of Vat)    627  1,329  627  1,329 
Tuition fee income from non-qualifying courses (exclusive of Vat)    1,259  1,691  1,259  1,691 
Tution fee income for taught awards (exclusive of Vat)    154,098  145,363  154,098  145,363 
   178,443 170,627 178,443 170,627

4 Other income        
Residences, catering & conferences   11,101 11,797 426 1,362
Other services rendered   7,910 5,467 5,957 4,337
Deferred capital grants released in year - buildings   287 287 239 239
Deferred capital grants released in year - equipment   450 373 450 373
Other income   1,763 3,569 2,272 2,740
Donations and endowments   158 559 158 559
Release of negative goodwill on acquisition  12 317 317 317 317
   21,986 22,369 9,819 9,927

5 Investment Income      
Income from investments   469 620 469 613
Income from investment property   313 193 13 9
Other interest receivable    - 3  - 3
   782 816 482 625
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Consolidated University
2021 2020 2021 2020

Note £000 £000 £000 £000

6 Staff costs 
Wages and salaries 80,981 84,046 78,520 81,105
Social security costs 7,861 8,144 7,688 7,950
Other pension costs 23 26,312 26,627 25,729 26,043
Increase in holiday pay accrual 46 330 38 291

 115,200 119,147 111,975 115,389
Restructuring costs including pensions 377 3,594 316 3,515
Release of prior year restructuring provision (330) - (330) -

 115,247 122,741 111,961 118,904

 Average staff numbers by major categories expressed on a full-time equivalent basis  
Teaching activities 1,218 1,241 1,218 1,241
Catering and residential services 62 70 11 14
Central services 929 1,001 884 965

2,209 2,312 2,113 2,220

Emoluments of the Vice-Chancellor and highest paid director were: 

 2021 2020
 £  £ 

Salary 244,036  244,036 
Taxable benefits - 2,488

 244,036 246,524
Pension contributions  57,788 56,323
Non-taxable benefits 895  830 

 302,719  303,677 

 The remuneration of the University’s Vice-Chancellor is decided by the Remuneration Committee on behalf of Governing Council. The Vice-
Chancellor is not a member of the Remuneration Committee but is in attendance for those discussions related to other senior post holders’ pay. 
Minutes of the Remuneration Committee and its Annual Report are published under the governance section of the University website.  

The recommendations made for all senior level pay, including that of the Vice-Chancellor met the principles and requirements of the CUC Code in 
reaching a fair, appropriate and justifiable level of remuneration, operating procedural fairness with appropriate transparency and accountability. 
The University’s pay policy is to be a median payer in our relevant market places, and our pay strategy over recent years has helped to re-position 
the institution and balance the need to demonstrate effective use of stakeholder funds whilst at the same time aligning our pay structure to attract, 
recruit and retain the best possible staff. 

The Vice-Chancellor’s basic salary is 7.7 times (2020: 8.7 times) the median basic salary of all other staff and the Vice Chancellor’s total 
remuneration is 7.6 times (2020: 8.8 times) the median total remuneration of all other staff. The basic and total multiple disclosed include atypical 
staff, including those employed on short-term contracts, for one-off/short-term tasks and some students employed through the University’s student 
employment service on such contracts.  

Remuneration of other higher paid staff, excluding employer’s pension contributions (University and Consolidated):  

 2021 2020
 No. No.

£100,000 to £104,999  -  -
£105,000 to £109,999  3  5
£110,000 to £114,999 - 1
£115,000 to £119,999  2  -
£120,000 to £124,999  1  -
£125,000 to £129,999  2  2
£130,000 to £139,999  -  -
£140,000 to £144,999  1  -
£145,000 to £149,999 - 1
£200,000 to £204,999 -  -

 9  9 
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Key management personnel 
Key management personnel are those persons having authority and responsibility for planning, directing and controlling activities of the 
University, the University Executive Board and Vice-Chancellor’s Executive group. Staff costs include compensation paid to key management 
personnel. These amounts include costs of the Vice-Chancellor.  

This figure excludes employer’s pension contributions. 

 2021 2020
 £000 £000

Key management personnel compensation  1,839  2,386 

Severance payments
 The total value of severance payments across the group was £500,905 for 36 individuals (2020: £1,896,155 for 85 individuals). 

Council Members
The University council members are the trustees for charitable law purposes. Due to the nature of the University’s operations and the composition 
of the Council, being drawn from local public and private sector organisations, it is inevitable that transactions will take place with organisations 
in which a member of the Council may have an interest. All transactions involving organisations in which a member of Council may have an 
interest, including those identified below, are conducted at arm’s length and in accordance with the University’s Financial Regulations and usual 
procurement procedures.

 During 2020/21, a total of £44,000 was paid for the services of Governors who held a Chairing role for the Council or its sub-committees. This 
is in accordance with the University Articles and Ordinances as approved by Governing Council and the Privy Council. The total expenses paid 
to or on behalf of three council members was £165 (2020: £2,220 to ten council members). This represents travel and subsistence expenses 
incurred in attending Council, Committee meetings and Charity events in their official capacity. 

Consolidated University
2021 2020 2021 2020

 Note £000 £000 £000 £000
7 Analysis of other operating expenditure by activity

Academic departments and services  24,458  25,357 24,458  25,357 
Administration and central services  19,602  18,466 18,616  17,159 
Premises  6,517  5,954  6,517  5,954 
Research grants and contracts 488  425  488  425 
Residences, catering and conferences  6,084  6,596  1,181  2,174 
Other expenditure 1,940  1,391  1,940  1,391 

59,089  58,189  53,200  52,460 

8 Interest and other finance costs
Loans wholly repayable within five years 146  194  -  -   
Loans not wholly repayable within five years  1,606  1,644  392  392 
Net charge on pension scheme 23  1,709  2,143  1,675  2,107 

 3,461  3,981  2,067  2,499 

9 Further analysis of expenditure
The depreciation and amortisation charge has been funded by: 
Deferred capital grants released 1,354 1,277 1,306 1,229
Revaluation reserve released 5,318 5,583 4,532 4,706
General income 11,568 10,825 9,857 9,203

 18,240 17,685  15,695 15,138

Other operating expenditure includes:
External auditor’s remuneration , inclusive of non-recoverable VAT, 
in respect of audit services 

- parent company (financial statements)  63  62  63  62
- parent company (other audit) 21 25 21 25
- subsidiaries  14  13  -   -   
- taxation compliance services  59  38  41  27 

Internal auditor’s remuneration  104  133  104  133 
Operating lease rentals  2,209  2,068  981  963 

- other  107  149  107  149 
Grants to University of Derby Student’s Union  863  863  863  863 



40

University of Derby

Consolidated University
2021 2020 2021 2020

Note £000 £000 £000 £000
9b Access and Participation Expenditure

Access investment  3,904  4,069  3,904  4,069 
Financial support  4,585  5,048  4,585  5,048 
Support for disabled students  3,099  3,179  3,099  3,179 
Research and evaluation  181  187  181  187 

 11,769  12,483  11,769  12,483 

The University of Derby’s commitment to supporting students from all backgrounds in accessing and succeeding in Higher Education involves input 
from across the Institution. Where the costs associated with this input are separately identifable, for example via specialist support teams, bursaries, 
fee waivers, etc., these are included in full in the information above. Where costs are incurred as part of wider activity, e.g. marketing outreach 
activity, costs are pro-rated based on the proportion of students from backgrounds considered part of Access and Participation (A&P) activity. The 
numbers in the table above include (i) staff costs, (ii) operating expenditure incurred directly on A&P activity and (iii) overhead costs indirectly 
attributable to that activity.

 Marketing activity accounts for a significant proportion of the University’s ‘total access expenditure.’ As an institution with a consistently high 
intake of students from OfS access and participation target groups, this expenditure reflects the cost of marketing our programmes and providing 
accurate information, advice and guidance to these students. We include these costs in our ‘total access expenditure’ in line with the original access 
agreement guidance provided to institutions by the Office for Fair Access (OFFA) and have continued to include this expenditure in our submission to 
ensure consistency in our reporting.

 Of the total access and participation investment of £11.8m (2020: £12.5m), staff costs represent £4.1m (2020: £4.2m), 34.7% of the total. 
Where staff are dedicated solely to A&P activity, their full pay costs have been included. For those staff who have a range of responsibilities (with 
A&P being one element), their pay costs have been apportioned in line with the estimated proportion of time they spend on A&P activity.

 A link to the University of Derby’s Access and Participation Plans approved by the Office for Students can be found at: 

 https://www.officeforstudents.org.uk/advice-and-guidance/the-register/search-for-access-and-participation-plans/#/AccessPlans/
accessplans/10007851
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10 Tangible fixed assets - Consolidated 
 Land & Buildings Plant Assets

Long Equipment Under
Freehold leasehold Vehicles construction Total 

£000  £000  £000  £000  £000

Valuation or cost
At 1 August 2020 408,073 46,540 82,050 2,842 539,505
Additions -  - 29 5,070 5,099
Disposals -  - (8,758) - (8,758)
Assets under construction transfers 953 - 2,529 (3,482) -
Reclassified as assets held for resale (510) -  - - (510)
Revaluation in year (12,953) 1,946  -  - (11,007)
Impairment in year (76) -  - - (76)
At 31 July 2021  395,487  48,486  75,850  4,430  524,253

Depreciation
At 1 August 2020 -  - (45,116) - (45,116)
Charge for year (8,639) (1,155) (7,014) - (16,808)
Disposals  -  - 8,756 - 8,756
Reclassified as assets held for resale 49  -  -  - 49
Revaluation in year 8,019 1,155  -  - 9,174
Impairment in year 571  -  -  - 571
At 31 July 2021 - - (43,374) - (43,374)

Net Book Value 
At 31 July 2021  395,487  48,486  32,476  4,430  480,879 

At 1 August 2020  408,073  46,540  36,934  2,842  494,389

Tangible fixed assets - University 
 Land & Buildings Plant Assets

Long Equipment Under
Freehold leasehold Vehicles construction Total 

£000  £000  £000  £000  £000
Valuation or cost
At 1 August 2020  344,571  11,335  73,802  2,740  432,448
Additions -  -  29  3,904  3,933 
Disposals  -  - (8,758) - (8,758)
Assets under construction transfers  953 - 1,764 (2,717) -
Reclassified as assets held for resale (510) -  - - (510)
Revaluation in year (9,415) (630) -  - (10,045)
Impairment in year (672) -  - - (672)
At 31 July 2021 334,927 10,705 66,837 3,927 416,396

Depreciation
At 1 August 2020 -  - (39,842) - (39,842)
Charge for year (7,407) (427) (6,429) - (14,263)
Disposals  -  - 8,756 - 8,756
Reclassified as assets held for resale 49  -  -  - 49
Revaluation in year 6,835 427  -  - 7,262
Impairment in year 523  -  -  - 523
At 31 July 2021 - - (37,515) - (37,515)

Net Book Value 
At 31 July 2021 334,927  10,705  29,322  3,927  378,881 

At 1 August 2020 344,571  11,335  33,960  2,740  392,606 

Included in the University only Land and Buildings total are values relating to three assets to which the University does not currently hold legal 
title per Land Registry records. This is due to an historic administrative oversight which is currently in the process of being corrected through legal 
process. The directors are confident this is merely a formality and expect to recover the title ownership in the next 6 months. As the assets have 
been in continuous use by the University throughout, the directors continue to recognise these Land and Buildings in the financial statements.
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The University has updated its approach to measuring the Gross Internal Area (GIA) of buildings with a remeasurement exercise taking place to 
more accurately reflect values for the 31 July 2021 year end.

The estimated impact of the change in the methodology is approximately a £773k decrease in the valuation of fixed assets, where GIA directly 
links to valuation, in the year. 

The Long Leasehold shown in ‘Tangible fixed assets - Consolidated’ relates to properties held by a subsidiary company as a lease, expiring after 
50 years, and to a University building being used for academic delivery. 

Consolidated and University
The freehold and leasehold properties comprising the University of Derby’s estate were valued on a desktop basis as at 31 July 2021 by an 
external valuer, Gerald Eve LLP, a regulated firm of Chartered Surveyors. The valuation was prepared in accordance with the requirements of the 
RICS Valuation - Global Standards 2017 and RICS Valuation – Global Standards 2017 UK National Supplement, Financial Reporting Standard 102 
and the 2019 Statement of Recommended Practice ‘Accounting for Further and Higher Education’. The valuation was undertaken on a Fair Value 
basis, with specialised properties valued by reference to Depreciated Replacement Cost. The valuation of operational properties is reported 
under the special assumptions to exclude any value of development opportunities for which planning permission would be required and has not 
been granted or where development has not yet commenced. 

The value of land not depreciated is £52,581,000 (2020: £52,581,000).

11 Intangible fixed assets
 Consolidated University
 £000 £000

Cost
At 1 August 2020  13,417  13,417 
Additions  1,439  1,439 
Disposals (668) (668)
At 31 July 2021  14,188  14,188 

Amortisation
At 1 August 2020 (8,867) (8,867)
Charge for the period (1,432) (1,432)
Disposals  666 666
At 31 July 2021 (9,633) (9,633)

Net Book Value 
At 31 July 2021  4,555  4,555 

At 1 August 2020  4,550  4,550 

All intangibles relate to computer software costs. There was no research expenditure incurred during the year ended 31 July 2021. There were no 
intangibles acquired by way of grants. 

12 Goodwill - Consolidated and University  2021  2020 
 £000 £000

Negative goodwill at 1 August (5,685) (6,002)
Release of negative goodwill to income 317 317
Negative goodwill at 31 July (5,368) (5,685)

13 Investment property  Consolidated University
 £000 £000

Valuation or cost
At 1 August 2020  5,065 291 
Gain on valuation 15 4
At 31 July 2021 5,080  295 

Consolidated and University
The freehold and leasehold properties comprising the University of Derby’s estate were valued on a desktop basis as at 31 July 2021 by an external 
valuer, Gerald Eve LLP, a regulated firm of Chartered Surveyors. The valuation was prepared in accordance with the requirements of the RICS 
Valuation - Global Standards 2017 and RICS Valuation – Global Standards 2017 UK National Supplement, Financial Reporting Standard 102 and the 
2019 Statement of Recommended Practice ‘Accounting for Further and Higher Education’. 
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14 Investments Consolidated University
2021  2020  2021  2020 
£000  £000  £000  £000 

Shares in group undertakings  -  -  25  25 
Managed funds  22,046  19,534  22,046  19,534 

22,046  19,534  22,071  19,559 

Managed funds -  Consolidated and University
Investments in gilts and shares  21,995  19,486  21,995  19,486 
Cash balances held by investment managers  51  48  51  48 
Total Managed funds  22,046  19,534  22,046  19,534 

Shares in group undertakings 

 The investments by the University in its group undertakings are stated at cost and consist of the following wholly owned companies and 
companies limited by guarantee, which are all registered in England and Wales. 

Name Activity Status
Derbyshire Student Residences Limited Letting of residential accommodation to students Limited by guarantee 
University of Derby Theatre Limited Provision of teaching facilities and theatre management Limited by guarantee 
In Good Company Limited Charity working on Arts Projects with young Artists Limited by guarantee 
University of Derby FE Not trading Limited by guarantee 
Derby University Enterprises Limited Not trading 100% owned 
University of Derby (Holdings) Limited Not trading 100% owned 

The University owns 100% of the equity of Derby University (Holdings) Limited, which in turn owns 100% of the equity of the other subsidiary 
companies. The University exerts management control over those companies limited by guarantee. 

15 Debtors 
 Consolidated  University

2021  2020  2021  2020 
£000  £000  £000  £000 

Amounts falling due within one year: 
Trade debtors  8,307  7,369  8,276  7,270 
Other debtors  145  232  145  232 
Prepayments and accrued income  8,894  8,196  8,227  7,561 

17,346  15,797  16,648  15,063 
Amounts falling due after more than one year: 
Other debtors  657  600  657  600

657 600 657 600

16 Assets held for sale - Consolidated and University 

At 1 August 2020  932 - 932  -  
Transfer from fixed assets  461  932 461  932 
Transfer to Revaluation reserve (461) - (461) -
Disposals (1) - (1) -
At 31 July 2021  931  932  931  932 

The above assets were classified as “held for sale” as the carrying amount of these assets was expected to be recovered through a sale 
transaction within 12 months. Where the sale has not taken place in the prescribed timescale, and where the asset remains unused by the 
business and is being actively marketed, then it is considered appropriate to retain such assets within this classification. 

17 Creditors: amounts falling due within one year

Mortgages and loans  621  1,773  293  -
Obligations under finance leases  973  911  357  357 
Payments received on account  15,418  11,833  15,409  11,823 
Trade creditors  2,926  891  2,468  853 
Social security and other taxation payable  2,201  4,480  2,175  4,448 
Accruals and deferred income  18,741  18,626  16,202  16,438 
Amounts owed to subsidiary undertakings  - - 2,755 5,111 

40,880  38,514  39,659  39,030 
 Consolidated  University

18 Creditors: amounts falling due after more than one year 2021  2020  2021  2020 
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 £000  £000  £000  £000

Mortgages and loans  5,205  3,969  2,715  -   
Obligations under finance leases  42,207  43,180  13,768  14,125 
Deferred capital grants  42,427  41,383  42,193  41,100 
Accruals and deferred income  333  333  333  333 

90,172  88,865  59,696  58,611 

19 Analysis of loans and finance leases 
Amounts falling due within one year or on demand  1,594  2,684  650  357 
Amounts falling due between 1-2 years  1,640  2,452  652  357 
Amounts falling due between 2-5 years  5,281  4,160  2,064  1,072 
Amounts falling due after 5 years  40,491  40,537  13,767  12,696 

49,006  49,833  17,133  14,482 

Obligations under finance leases: 
Amounts falling due within one year or on demand  973  911  357  357 
Amounts falling due between 1-2 years  999  973  357  357 
Amounts falling due between 2-5 years  3,234  3,067  1,169  1,072 
Amounts falling due after 5 years   37,974  39,140  12,242  12,696 

 43,180  44,091  14,125  14,482

20 Provisions for liabilities and charges - Consolidated and University Redundancy Enhanced Total
 pensions

£000  £000 £000

At 1 August 2020  1,435  6,265  7,700 
Net movement in year  (1,404) (552) (1,956)
At 31 July 2021  31  5,713  5,744 

 The redundancy provision arises from costs committed at the Statement of Financial Position date for staff contracted to leave employment at 
the University during the year ended 31 July 2021. The enhanced pension provision represents amounts payable by the University in respect of 
contributions for staff members taking early retirement. 

The enhanced pension provision has used the following assumptions:  2021  2020 
%  % 

Interest rate  1.6  1.3 
Inflation rate  2.6  2.2

21 Total rentals payable under operating leases
 Land & Plant and 2021 2020

buildings machinery Total  Total
£000  £000  £000  £000

Payable during the year - Consolidated  2,209  107  2,316  2,217 
Payable during the year - University  981  107  1,088  1,112 

Future minimum lease payments due - Consolidated: 

Not later than one year  2,257  90  2,347  2,357 
Later than one year and not later than 5 years  9,237  175  9,412  9,027 
Later than 5 years  35,060 - 35,060  37,585 
Total lease payments due  46,554  265  46,819  48,969 

Future minimum lease payments due - University: 

Not later than one year  983  90  1,073  1,126 
Later than one year and not later than 5 years  3,917  175  4,092  3,852 
Later than 5 years  10,689 - 10,689  11,840 
Total lease payments due  15,589  265  15,854  16,818 
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22 Capital commitments Consolidated University
2021  2020  2021  2020 
£000  £000  £000  £000 

Authorised and contracted for  6,322  3,413  5,654  2,033 
Authorised but not contracted for  8,649  15,340  8,393  15,340 

23 Pensions and similar obligations - Consolidated and University 

The University employees belong to two principal pension schemes, the Teachers’ Pension Scheme and the Local Government Pension Scheme. 
The total pension cost for the year was £26,311,563 (2020: £26,627,586). 

Teachers’ Pension Scheme (TPS) 
The Teachers’ Pension Scheme (TPS) is a statutory, contributory, defined benefit scheme, governed by the Teachers’ Pensions Regulations 
2010, and, from 1 April 2014, by the Teachers’ Pension Scheme Regulations 2014. These regulations apply to teachers in schools and other 
educational establishments, including academies, in England and Wales that are maintained by local authorities. In addition, teachers in many 
independent and voluntary-aided schools and teachers and lecturers in some establishments of further and higher education may be eligible 
for membership. Membership is automatic for full-time teachers and lecturers and, from 1 January 2007, automatic too for teachers and lecturers 
in part-time employment following appointment or a change of contract. Teachers and lecturers are able to opt out of the TPS. Regulations 
giving effect to a reformed Teachers’ Pension Scheme came into force on 1 April 2014 and the reformed scheme commenced on 1 April 2015. 
The pension costs paid to TPS in the year amounted to £9,375,416. 

The Teachers’ Pension Budgeting and Valuation Account 
Although members may be employed by various bodies, their retirement and other pension benefits are set out in regulations made under the 
Superannuation Act 1972 and are paid by public funds provided by Parliament. The TPS is an unfunded scheme and members contribute on a 
‘pay as you go’ basis – these contributions, along with those made by employers, are credited to the Exchequer under arrangements governed 
by the above Act. The Teachers’ Pensions Regulations 2010 require an annual account, the Teachers’ Pension Budgeting and Valuation Account, 
to be kept of receipts and expenditure (including the cost of pension increases). From 1 April 2001 the Account has been credited with a real 
rate of return, which is equivalent to assuming that the balance in the Account is invested in notional investments that produce that real rate of 
return.

Valuation of the Teachers’ Pension Scheme 
The latest actuarial review of the TPS was carried out as at 31 December 2016 and in accordance with The Public Service Pensions (Valuations 
and Employer Cost Cap) Directions 2014. The key results of the valuation are: 
• employer contribution rates were set at 16.4% of pensionable pay, increasing to 23.6% from 1 September 2019;
• total scheme liabilities for service to the effective date of £218.1 billion, and notional assets of £196.1 billion, giving a notional past service

deficit of £22.0 billion;
• an employer cost cap of 10.9% of pensionable pay.
A full copy of the valuation report and supporting documentation can be found on the Teachers’ Pension Scheme website at the following
location:     https://www.teacherspensions.co.uk/-/media/Documents/Member/Documents/News-items/Teachers-Pension-Scheme-Actuarial-
valuation-2016.ashx

FRS 102 section 28
Under the definitions set out in Financial Reporting Standard (FRS 102) section 28 Retirement Benefits, the TPS is a multi-employer pension 
scheme. The University is unable to identify its share of the underlying assets and liabilities of the scheme. Accordingly, the University has 
taken advantage of the exemption in FRS102 and has accounted for its contributions to the scheme as if it were a defined-contribution scheme. 
The University has set out above the information available on the scheme and the implications for the University in terms of the anticipated 
contribution rates.

Local Government Pension Scheme (LGPS)
The LGPS is a funded defined benefit scheme, with assets held in separate trustee administered funds. The total contribution for the year ended 
31 July 2020 was £8,083,000 (2020: £8,440,000), of which employers’ contributions totalled £5,851,000 (2020: £6,092,000) and employees’ 
contributions totalled £2,232,000 (2020: £2,348,000). The agreed contribution rates for future years are 17.4%-27.7% for employers and 5.5%-12.5% 
for employees. 

The University has updated its approach to setting RPI and CPI inflation in light of the RPI reform proposals published on the 4th September 
2019 by the UK Chancellor and UK Statistics Authority.

The Group continued to set RPI inflation in line with the market break-even expectations less an inflation risk premium. The inflation risk premium 
has been increased from 0.2% at 31 December 2018 to 0.4% at 31 December 2019, reflecting an allowance for additional market distortions 
caused by the RPI referral proposals. For CPI, the University has proposed a long term gap between RPI and CPI of 90 basis points, compared 
to 100 basis points at the prior year end.

The estimated impact of the change in the methodology is approximately a £7m increase in the defined benefit obligation in respect of the 
LGPS scheme.
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23  Pensions and similar obligations Consolidated and University (continued)     
 

The amounts recognised in the balance sheet are as follows:      

    Consolidated   University 
   2021  2020  2021 2020 
   £000 £000 £000 £000

Present value of funded liabilities    355,900  296,012  346,577  288,383 
Fair value of plan assets   (217,613) (179,997) (211,040) (174,691)
   138,287  116,015  135,537  113,692 
Present value of unfunded obligations    555  600  555  600 
Deficit and net liability    138,842  116,615  136,092  114,292 

The amounts recognised in the statement of comprehensive income and expenditure are as follows:    
  
Charge to payroll costs      
Current and past service cost    17,034  17,035  16,496  16,502 
Contributions by employer   (5,851) (6,092) (5,551) (5,781)
   11,183  10,943  10,945  10,721 

Interest payable      
Interest on pension liabilities    4,256  6,010  4,146  5,854 
Interest income on plan assets   (2,547) (3,867) (2,471) (3,747)
    1,709  2,143  1,675  2,107 

Analysis of other comprehensive income      
Actuarial (loss)/gain on liabilities   (40,260) 2,520 (39,181) 2,350
Actuarial gain/(loss) on plan assets   30,925 (9,917) 30,001 (9,236)
   (9,335) (7,397) (9,180) (6,886)

Cumulative present value of funded obligation  
recognised in other comprehensive income:    
Opening present value of funded obligation    296,612  277,664  288,983  270,530 
Service cost    17,034  17,035  16,496  16,502 
Interest cost    4,256  6,010  4,146  5,854 
Member contributions    2,232  2,348  2,168  2,277 
Actuarial losses/(gains)    40,260 (2,520)  39,181 (2,350)
Net benefits paid   (3,939) (3,925) (3,842) (3,830)
Closing present value of funded obligation    356,455  296,612  347,132  288,983 

 
Cumulative actuarial gain recognised in other comprehensive income:     
Opening fair value of plan assets    179,997  181,532  174,691  175,952 
Expected return on assets    2,547  3,867  2,471  3,747 
Actuarial gains on assets    30,925 (9,917)  30,001 (9,236)
Contributions by employer    5,851  6,092  5,551  5,781 
Member contributions    2,232  2,348  2,168  2,277 
Benefits paid   (3,939) (3,925) (3,842) (3,830)
Closing fair value of plan assets    217,613  179,997  211,040  174,691 

The group expects to contribute £6,139,000 to its defined benefit pension plan during the year ended 31 July 2022.   
   
Consolidated      
The University’s contribution and movement on provisioning in respect of costs to the various schemes for its own staff were:   
     2021 2020 
     £000 £000
Teachers’ Pension Scheme      9,375  9,342 
Local Government Pension Scheme      5,688  6,288 
Other schemes      66  54 
      15,129  15,684 
FRS 102 section 28 adjustment to pension charge for year      11,183  10,943 
Pension cost for year      26,312  26,627 
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23  Pensions and similar obligations - Consolidated and University (continued)     
 

Consolidated and University      
The return on plan assets was 18.4%.
The major categories of plan assets, as a percentage of total plan assets are as follows:     
 

     2021 2020 
      %  % 
Equities      63  61 
Bonds      24  24 
Property      7  8 
Cash      6  7 

The principal actuarial assumptions at the balance sheet date (expressed as weighted averages) were as follows:    
  

     2021  2020 
     %  % 
Discount rate at 31 July      1.6  1.4 
Future salary increases      3.5  2.8 
Future pension increases      2.8  2.1 
 Proportion of employees commuting part of pension to lump sum on retirement pre April 2008   50.0  50.0 
Proportion of employees commuting part of pension to lump sum on retirement post April 2008    75.0  75.0 

The mortality assumptions used in the valuation of the scheme are summarised in the table below and have been selected to reflect the 
characteristics and the experience of the membership of the plan. This has been done by using the PA92 tables with longevity projection based 
on medium cohort and the year in which the member was born.      

Longevity at age 65 for current retirees      
Men      86.3  86.6 
Women      88.9  88.7 
Longevity at age 65 for future retirees, current age 45      
Men      87.5  87.6 
Women      90.8  90.1 

Amounts for the current and previous three periods are as follows:      

   2021  2020  2019  2018 
   £000 £000 £000 £000
Actuarial losses   (356,455) (296,612) (277,664) (215,127)
Fair value of plan assets   217,613  179,997  181,532  166,618 
Deficit   (138,842) (116,615) (96,132) (48,509)

The sensitivities regarding the principal assumptions used to measure the scheme liabilities are set out below:    
  
University
      
Change in assumptions at 31 July 2021: Approximate % increase to Approximate monetary 
 Defined Benefit  Obligation amount (£000) 
0.1% decrease in Real Discount Rate  2%   8,441 
1 year increase in member life expectancy  4%   13,885 
0.1% increase in the Salary Increase Rate  0%   740 
0.1% increase in the Pension Increase Rate (CPI)  2%   7,578 

DSRL      

Change in assumptions at 31 July 2021: Approximate % increase to Approximate monetary 
 Defined Benefit  Obligation amount (£000)
0.1% decrease in Real Discount Rate  2%   232 
1 year increase in member life expectancy  4%   373 
0.1% increase in the Salary Increase Rate  0%   24 
0.1% increase in the Pension Increase Rate (CPI)  2%   205 
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24 Grants, bursaries and agency arrangements - Consolidated and University     
 

The following bursaries and other support grants were received during the year by the University as agent and have been excluded from the 
Consolidated Statement of Comprehensive Income and Expenditure.      

     2021  2020 
     £000 £000
RGF/ERDF Grant      1,639  2,097 
SFA Further Education Bursary      168  169 
NHS Social Work bursary      185  158 
NCTL Training bursary      1,373  791 
FE ITT BIS bursary      154  -   
SFA 24+ bursary      105  138 
EFA Free meals      21  17 
Health Education England      420  344 
The US Federal Loans Company      365  612 
ESFA Employer incentive      81  70 
DCLG ERDF      437  357 
OfS Covid Hardship support      1,360  -   

The operations of the University Group are undertaken through the University, as well as through a number of subsidiaries, as shown in note 14 to 
these financial statements. One of the trading companies is a paragraph (28) charity and regulated by OfS, and details of its activity in the year 
ended 31 July 2021 is shown below.      

25 Connected charities Brought Revaluation Change in   Carried
 forward  in year market value  Income  Expenditure forward
 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000 £000
Funds/charities with income over £100,000      
Derbyshire Student Residences Limited  68,909  209 (155)  11,416 (11,464)  68,915 

Funds/charities with income under £100,000      
Derby Regional Management Centre  -     -     -     99  (99)  -   
University of Derby Endowment Charity  14,343   -     -     -     -     14,343 

 The only asset within the above amounts is a major portion of land at its main site, Kedleston Road. The retention of land within the endowment 
charity is intended to safeguard the charitable activities of the University in future years.     
 

26 Related party transactions      
The University has, or had, representation on the management boards of the following organisations:
    
 Payments made by the Payments made to the Balance receivable/ 
 University (£)  University (£) (Payable) 
   at 31 July (£)
ACM Certification Ltd - - -
ACM Ltd - - -
All Saints Derby General Charity - - -
Ascentor Ltd - - -
Ashgate Primary School  1,170 - -
BBC Radio Derby - - -
Board of Enterprise for Education (E4E) - - -
British Compressed Gas Association - - -
Busness Cymru Ltd - - -
Cambridge International Examinations (CIE) - - -
Chamber Certification Assessment Services (CCAS) - - -
Chapel of St Mary on the Bridge - - -
Colanna Ltd - - -
Deputy Lieutenant for Derbyshire - - -
Derby Cathedral Enterprises Ltd - - -
Derby City Partnerships – Stronger Communities Board and Community Recovery Group - - -
Derby Diocesan Board of Finance - - -
Derby Porcelain International Society - - -
Derby Poverty Commission - - -
Derby Renaissance Board - - -
Derbyshire LGPS Pension Board ` - -
DfE Opportunity Area - - -
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 Payments made by the Payments made to the Balance receivable/ 
 University (£) University (£) (Payable) 
   at 31 July (£)
 
DHL UK Foundation - - -
EMB (Cymru) Ltd - - -
EMB (Excellence) Ltd - - -   
EMB Cyber Ltd - - -
EMB Group Ltd - - -
EMB Ltd - - -
GuildHE (Employer) - - -
Higher Education Committee - Policy Connect - - -
Isonomy Ltd - - -
Lawn Primary School  700 210 -
Lesley Giles Associates - - -
Lincoln Pensions Limited - - -
Litton Primary School - - -
Metro Growth Board - - -
Midlands Enterprise - - -
NHS Digital - - -
NHS Property Services - - -
Nortel Networks SA - - -
Nottingham University Hospitals NHS Trust  74,471  23,425 -
Nursing and Midwifery Council - - -
Oxford Business Management - - -
Pearson Ltd (Edexcel)  88,520 - -
PwC LLP  170,040 - -
Royal Crown Derby Museum Trust  1,919 - -
Skills and Education Group  4,525  -    -   
Tech Partnership Degrees  3,090 - (120)
The Careers and Enterprise Company - - -
The Co-operative College CIO - - -
The Northworthy Trust (The Northworthy Alliance)  81,875 - -
The St Mary’s Charity - - -
University of Derby Student Union  260,204  44,337 (91)
UUK - - -
Veterans Advisory and Pensions Committee (East Midlands) - - -
White Tail Aero Limited - - -
William Temple Foundation - - -
Work Advance Ltd - - -

 The University has provided a loan of £256,000 to the Multi-faith Centre Trust. This loan has been fully provided against. The loan is repayable 
commencing five years after completion of the Multi-faith Centre building, dependent upon surpluses in the operation of the Trust. Given the future 
uncertainties as to the existence of sufficient surplus to repay the loan, it has been considered appropriate to continue to provide against the 
balance in the financial statements. During the year, the University paid grants of £61,924 (2020: £61,924) to the Multi-faith Centre.  
   
 
A grant of £862,884 (2020: £862,880) was made to the Student Union during the year.    
  
All major contracts undertaken by the University are subject to an independent tender process controlled by the Procurement Department. The 
members of the Governing Council have no influence over this process or the awarding of contracts to suppliers.   
   

27 Contingent liabilities
There were no contingent liabilities as at 31 July 2021 (2020: nil).
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